World Journal of *Cardiology*

World J Cardiol 2023 December 26; 15(12): 623-654





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J C World Journ Cardiology

World Journal of

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 12 December 26, 2023

EDITORIAL

- Inherited arrhythmias and gene therapy: Are there any ethical considerations to take into account? 623 Spartalis M, Spartalis E, Siasos G
- 627 Quo vadis cardiac rehabilitation; the role of comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation in modern cardiology Lakušić N, Sopek Merkaš I

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Efficacy and prognostic impact of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection combined with nicorandil for 633 intractable angina pectoris in elderly patients: A retrospective study

Li J, Kong MW, Xie YY, Wang ZB, Xu L, He GX

CASE REPORT

- 642 Pulmonary and tricuspid regurgitation after Tetralogy of Fallot repair: A case report Cao JY, Ning XP, Zhou GW, Li BL, Qiao F, Han L, Xu ZY, Lu FL
- 649 R-I subtype single right coronary artery with congenital absence of left coronary system: A case report Zhou YP, Wang LL, Qiu YG, Huang SW



Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 12 December 26, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Peer Reviewer of World Journal of Cardiology, Salim R Surani, MD, MPH, MSHM, FACP, FAASM, FCCP, FCCM, Adj. Clinical Professor, Department of Pharmacy & Medicine, Texas A&M University, Corpus Christi, TX 78405, United States. srsurani@gmail.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Cardiology (WJC, World J Cardiol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of cardiology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WIC mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of cardiology and covering a wide range of topics including acute coronary syndromes, aneurysm, angina, arrhythmias, atherosclerosis, atrial fibrillation, cardiomyopathy, congenital heart disease, coronary artery disease, heart failure, hypertension, imaging, infection, myocardial infarction, pathology, peripheral vessels, public health, Raynaud's syndrome, stroke, thrombosis, and valvular disease.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJC is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 Edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJC as 1.9; IF without journal self cites: 1.8; 5-year IF: 2.3; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.33. The WJC's CiteScore for 2022 is 1.9 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2022: Cardiology and cardiovascular medicine is 226/354.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuan; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Yun-Xiaojiao Wu.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Cardiology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1949-8462 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 31, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Ramdas G Pai, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Marco Matteo Ciccone, Pal Pacher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
December 26, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 December 26; 15(12): 623-626

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.623

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

EDITORIAL

Inherited arrhythmias and gene therapy: Are there any ethical considerations to take into account?

Michael Spartalis, Eleftherios Spartalis, Gerasimos Siasos

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Yang YQ, China

Received: September 25, 2023 Peer-review started: September 25, 2023 First decision: November 9, 2023

Revised: November 12, 2023 Accepted: November 28, 2023 Article in press: November 28, 2023 Published online: December 26, 2023



Michael Spartalis, Gerasimos Siasos, 3rd Department of Cardiology, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 11527, Greece

Eleftherios Spartalis, Laboratory of Experimental Surgery and Surgical Research, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 11527, Greece

Corresponding author: Michael Spartalis, Doctor, FACC, FESC, MS, MSc, PhD, 3rd Department of Cardiology, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, 152 Mesogeion Ave, Athens 11527, Greece. msparta@med.uoa.gr

Abstract

Interventional electrophysiology represents a relatively recent subspecialty within the field of cardiology. In the past half-century, there has been significant advancement in the development and implementation of innovative ablation treatments and approaches. However, the treatment of arrhythmias continues to be inadequate. Several arrhythmias, such as ventricular tachycardia and atrial fibrillation, pose significant challenges in terms of therapeutic efficacy, whether through interventional procedures or the administration of antiarrhythmic drugs. Cardiologists are engaged in ongoing research to explore innovative methodologies, such as genome editing, with the purpose of effectively managing arrhythmias and meeting the growing needs of patients afflicted with rhythm disturbances. The field of genome editing has significant promise and has the potential to serve as a highly effective personalized therapy for rhythm disorders in patients. However, several ethical issues must be considered.

Key Words: Arrhythmia; Sudden cardiac death; Genome editing; Long QT; Channelopathies; Mutation

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: The use of genome editing to treat rhythm disturbances at the substrate level could provide a revolutionary treatment for disorders that the current standard of care is inadequate. Our knowledge of the disease is the only limit in identifying a perfect genome editing tool for several rhythm disturbances. As our understanding of gene vectors and transfer techniques progress, a novel therapy approach will be upon us, where cardiac muscles are altered to be impervious to rhythm disturbances, enhancing patients' quality of living and relieving the burden on healthcare organizations. Ethical issues will eventually arise, as the treatments will be expensive.

Citation: Spartalis M, Spartalis E, Siasos G. Inherited arrhythmias and gene therapy: Are there any ethical considerations to take into account? World J Cardiol 2023; 15(12): 623-626

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i12/623.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.623

INTRODUCTION

Inherited cardiac arrhythmias syndromes are a cluster of diverse disorders that predispose to life-threatening rhythm disturbances and abrupt cardiac death[1]. Due to inadequate penetrance and genetic variability, their detection is not invariably straightforward^[2]. Additionally, current therapies are typically invasive and only preventative^[1,2]. While often effective in relieving or preventing symptoms, current pharmacological or interventional treatments do not specifically address the underlying genetic defect or the key intermediary pathways implicated in the development of these disorders[3]. Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)/Cas9 techniques, in particular, have the ability to modify the genetic electrophysiologic substrate, hence enabling treatment for many lethal disorders[4]. So far, gene therapy has enabled the *in vitro* replication of rhythm disturbances, offering a consistent framework for variable pathogenesis, pathophysiological, and drug-testing research[1-4]. Nevertheless, in vivo procedures still require further investigation into the techniques' reliability, precision, and efficacy.

GENOME EDITING FOR INHERITED ARRHYTHMIAS

Inherited cardiac arrhythmia syndromes are disorders characterized by one or more genetic abnormalities that enhance the incidence of rhythm disturbance and culminate in a life-long risk of unexpected death[1]. Inherited arrhythmias can be categorized as electrophysiologic equilibrium abnormalities (long QT syndrome, catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia), organic disorders linked to rhythm disturbances (hypertrophic cardiomyopathy), or a combination involving both a proclivity for rhythm disturbances and organic heart disease (arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy)[5]. Certain compounds that modify agonists (beta-blockers) or ion channels (sodium channel blockers) have shown effectiveness in specific forms of familial rhythm disturbances, although individuals are often only partially shielded^[5,6]. Several types of familial rhythm disturbances have a gradual course, and thus no presently known treatment effectively slows disease advancement[7]. Current research has suggested that genetic treatment for people with familial rhythm disturbances might be developed to prevent harmful rhythm disturbances as well as hinder disorder development by addressing core disorder processes [6-9]. These upcoming treatments have the ability to decrease adverse reactions significantly while also improving clinical results^[10].

Because gene variability is widespread in channelopathies, additional genetic variants are being found and included in the prospective catalog of variations amenable to genetic analysis [1,11]. Even though both patient-dependent and patientindependent in vitro techniques could corroborate a variant's pathogenic potential, more compelling data and statistical validation of disorder etiology are required before they could be included in commonly utilized medical testing[1-4]. Furthermore, despite significant advances in comprehending the pathophysiology of familial rhythm disturbances, guidelines for treatment approaches, such as beta-blockers, left cardiac sympathetic denervation, or implantable cardioverter-defibrillator, have not altered in the previous 40 years[1-4]. The ability to incorporate unique disease-causing variants while maintaining the same genetic origin allows for an impartial assessment of different mutations[1-4]. This comparison research revealed that various variants in the same gene could be the result of unique genetic pathways, strengthening the viewpoint that the therapy of familial rhythm disturbances must shift toward targeted therapy and patient-specific treatments[2,12].

Precision Medicine emerged as a novel approach to disease treatment and prevention, which considers the unique interplay between an individual's genetic profile, environmental factors, and lifestyle factors[13]. The primary objective of this technique is to predict appropriate interventions and preventive measures that may yield greater efficacy for individual patients or, more feasibly, for cohorts of patients sharing common attributes[13]. The present method stands in opposition to the prevailing one-size-fits-all paradigm, wherein illness treatment and prevention strategies are formulated solely on the basis of randomized trials without taking into account individual variations^[13].

While missense mutations are generally straightforward to edit using CRISPR/Cas9, addressing complex variants, including double heterozygosity, could present further barriers that must be overcome [1,2]. Furthermore, CRISPR/Cas9 has various disadvantages that have slowed the use of *in vivo* gene therapy in the management of rhythm disturbances [1, 2]. The homologous recombination *cellular* mechanism, downregulated in terminally differentiated cell types such as



cardiac myocytes, reduces the odds of success^[1,2]. Moreover, correcting a minor amount of molecules may result in proarrhythmic episodes, worsening the individuals' medical conditions[1,2].

Pro-arrhythmia is a potential concern of treatments that modify heart rhythm[2,4]. This issue is particularly significant in the context of adeno-associated viruses (AAV) genome editing, which could lead to myocardial heterogeneities due to cardiac myocytes that have and have not been transfected by AAV[2,4]. A rigorous assessment of pro-arrhythmic potential necessitates screening in bigger animals with pulse rate, anatomy, and heart physiology similar to humans[2,4].

Another field of ongoing research is the immunological reaction to genome editing[1,2]. In big animals given massive AAV loads, the intrinsic immunity mechanism was activated, culminating in a possibly deadly inflammatory process[4]. The formation of neutralizing antibodies following one AAV treatment presently precludes subsequent vector dosage, which might promote high-level transmission or increase genetic engineering longevity^[4]. Even though AAV transduction of cardiac myocytes causes minor inflammation, the possibility of adverse immunity reactions must be addressed when the therapy carrier expresses a foreign protein[4].

Overall, current investigations of inherited arrhythmia disorders and gene therapy have revealed that these disorders may be effectively replicated in the laboratory, revealing deficient ion currents and enabling a suitable framework for molecular, analytical, and drug-testing research[2]. Even though immensely attractive, this technique remains in its infancy, and transitioning from the lab to the patient may require more study to increase the procedures' reliability, effectiveness, and accuracy. Future in vivo CRISPR/Cas9 investigation in heart channelopathies could eventually enable us to realize its promise to treat these disorders and make personalized medicine a reality[6-8].

Over the past decade, there have been significant developments in genome editing and its applicability to familial rhythm disturbances. Genome editing with AAV vectors has shown outstanding outcomes for non-cardiac disorders[1]. The obstacles for viral vector-based heart genome editing entail demonstrating effectiveness at transduction efficiencies feasible in individuals, as well as demonstrating safety at these dosages. Off-target complications, the formation of proarrhythmia, the durability of treatment, and the limitation of reversibility following therapy continue to pose major challenges for translation[6-8]. Creating techniques to counteract innate immunity and allow for recurrent doses will significantly increase the therapeutic value of viral vectors, increase safety, and resolve issues about treatment durability [1,2]. To render viral genome editing cost effective, the tremendous cost of medical-grade AAV development must be reduced. The discovery of technologies for effective and specific myocardial distribution for oligonucleotides and altered mRNAs would be a game changer.

CONCLUSION

The notion of a pathogenic genetic mutation within a gene that encodes a cardiac ion channel, resulting in a substrate extremely prone to arrhythmias, has emerged as the fundamental framework for understanding the pathophysiology of all these syndromes[14]. According to current guidelines, it is recommended that individuals diagnosed with hereditary cardiomyopathies and arrhythmia syndromes have genetic testing as a standard component of their medical management[15]. The use of genome editing to treat rhythm disturbances at the substrate level could provide a revolutionary treatment for disorders that the current standard of care is inadequate. Our knowledge of the disease is the only limit in identifying a perfect genome editing tool for several rhythm disturbances. As our understanding of gene vectors and transfer techniques progress, a novel therapy approach will be upon us, where cardiac muscles are altered to be impervious to rhythm disturbances, enhancing patients' quality of living and relieving the burden on healthcare organizations. Ethical issues will eventually arise, as the treatments will be expensive. Who will cover the cost? Will there be an accurate risk stratification and patient selection tool, or will existing disparities in access to healthcare interventions increase?

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All authors contributed equally to this paper in conception and design of the letter, literature review and analysis, drafting, critical revision, editing, and providing final approval of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Michael Spartalis, Eleftherios Spartalis and Gerasimos Siasos have nothing to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: Michael Spartalis 0000-0002-7442-838X; Eleftherios Spartalis 0000-0003-4451-8074.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



REFERENCES

- 1 Bezzerides VJ, Prondzynski M, Carrier L, Pu WT. Gene therapy for inherited arrhythmias. Cardiovasc Res 2020; 116: 1635-1650 [PMID: 32321160 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa107]
- Lalaguna L, Ramos-Hernández L, Priori SG, Lara-Pezzi E. Genome Editing and Inherited Cardiac Arrhythmias. Adv Exp Med Biol 2023; 2 1396: 115-127 [PMID: 36454463 DOI: 10.1007/978-981-19-5642-3_8]
- 3 Marian AJ, Braunwald E. Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy: Genetics, Pathogenesis, Clinical Manifestations, Diagnosis, and Therapy. Circ Res 2017; 121: 749-770 [PMID: 28912181 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311059]
- Spartalis M. Genome Editing and Atrial Fibrillation. Adv Exp Med Biol 2023; 1396: 129-137 [PMID: 36454464 DOI: 4 10.1007/978-981-19-5642-3 9
- Wolf CM, Berul CI. Molecular mechanisms of inherited arrhythmias. Curr Genomics 2008; 9: 160-168 [PMID: 19440513 DOI: 5 10.2174/138920208784340768
- 6 Bagnall RD, Weintraub RG, Ingles J, Duflou J, Yeates L, Lam L, Davis AM, Thompson T, Connell V, Wallace J, Naylor C, Crawford J, Love DR, Hallam L, White J, Lawrence C, Lynch M, Morgan N, James P, du Sart D, Puranik R, Langlois N, Vohra J, Winship I, Atherton J, McGaughran J, Skinner JR, Semsarian C. A Prospective Study of Sudden Cardiac Death among Children and Young Adults. N Engl J Med 2016; **374**: 2441-2452 [PMID: 27332903 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1510687]
- 7 Hocini M, Pison L, Proclemer A, Larsen TB, Madrid A, Blomström-Lundqvist C; Scientific Initiative Committee, European Heart Rhythm Association. Diagnosis and management of patients with inherited arrhythmia syndromes in Europe: results of the European Heart Rhythm Association Survey. Europace 2014; 16: 600-603 [PMID: 24711616 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euu074]
- Priori SG, Napolitano C, Memmi M, Colombi B, Drago F, Gasparini M, DeSimone L, Coltorti F, Bloise R, Keegan R, Cruz Filho FE, Vignati 8 G, Benatar A, DeLogu A. Clinical and molecular characterization of patients with catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia. Circulation 2002; 106: 69-74 [PMID: 12093772 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.0000020013.73106.d8]
- 9 Goff ZD, Calkins H. Sudden death related cardiomyopathies - Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy, arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy, and exercise-induced cardiomyopathy. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2019; 62: 217-226 [PMID: 31004608 DOI: 10.1016/j.pcad.2019.04.002]
- 10 Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, Bryant WJ, Callans DJ, Curtis AB, Deal BJ, Dickfeld T, Field ME, Fonarow GC, Gillis AM, Granger CB, Hammill SC, Hlatky MA, Joglar JA, Kay GN, Matlock DD, Myerburg RJ, Page RL. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. Heart Rhythm 2018; 15: e73-e189 [PMID: 29097319 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2017.10.036]
- Hylind RJ, Ladouceur VB, Fynn-Thompson F, Hourigan SE, Bezzerides VJ, Abrams DJ. Genotype-phenotype-guided medical and surgical 11 intervention in long QT syndrome. HeartRhythm Case Rep 2018; 4: 14-17 [PMID: 29379719 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrcr.2017.09.001]
- Calkins H, Hindricks G, Cappato R, Kim YH, Saad EB, Aguinaga L, Akar JG, Badhwar V, Brugada J, Camm J, Chen PS, Chen SA, Chung 12 MK, Cosedis Nielsen J, Curtis AB, Davies DW, Day JD, d'Avila A, Natasja de Groot NMS, Di Biase L, Duytschaever M, Edgerton JR, Ellenbogen KA, Ellinor PT, Ernst S, Fenelon G, Gerstenfeld EP, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Helm RH, Hylek E, Jackman WM, Jalife J, Kalman JM, Kautzner J, Kottkamp H, Kuck KH, Kumagai K, Lee R, Lewalter T, Lindsay BD, Macle L, Mansour M, Marchlinski FE, Michaud GF, Nakagawa H, Natale A, Nattel S, Okumura K, Packer D, Pokushalov E, Reynolds MR, Sanders P, Scanavacca M, Schilling R, Tondo C, Tsao HM, Verma A, Wilber DJ, Yamane T; Document Reviewers:. 2017 HRS/EHRA/ECAS/APHRS/SOLAECE expert consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation. Europace 2018; 20: e1-e160 [PMID: 29016840 DOI: 10.1093/europace/eux274]
- Gnecchi M, Sala L, Schwartz PJ. Precision Medicine and cardiac channelopathies: when dreams meet reality. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 1661-13 1675 [PMID: 33686390 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab007]
- 14 Adler A, Novelli V, Amin AS, Abiusi E, Care M, Nannenberg EA, Feilotter H, Amenta S, Mazza D, Bikker H, Sturm AC, Garcia J, Ackerman MJ, Hershberger RE, Perez MV, Zareba W, Ware JS, Wilde AAM, Gollob MH. An International, Multicentered, Evidence-Based Reappraisal of Genes Reported to Cause Congenital Long QT Syndrome. Circulation 2020; 141: 418-428 [PMID: 31983240 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.043132
- Zeppenfeld K, Tfelt-Hansen J, de Riva M, Winkel BG, Behr ER, Blom NA, Charron P, Corrado D, Dagres N, de Chillou C, Eckardt L, Friede 15 T, Haugaa KH, Hocini M, Lambiase PD, Marijon E, Merino JL, Peichl P, Priori SG, Reichlin T, Schulz-Menger J, Sticherling C, Tzeis S, Verstrael A, Volterrani M; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2022 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. Eur Heart J 2022; 43: 3997-4126 [PMID: 36017572 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac262]



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 December 26; 15(12): 627-632

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.627

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

EDITORIAL

Quo vadis cardiac rehabilitation; the role of comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation in modern cardiology

Nenad Lakušić, Ivana Sopek Merkaš

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Batalik L, Czech Republic; Batta A, India

Received: October 25, 2023 Peer-review started: October 25, 2023 First decision: November 2, 2023 Revised: November 7, 2023 Accepted: November 29, 2023 Article in press: November 29, 2023 Published online: December 26, 2023



Nenad Lakušić, Ivana Sopek Merkaš, Department of Cardiology, Special Hospital for Medical Rehabilitation Krapinske Toplice, Krapinske Toplice 49217, Croatia

Nenad Lakušić, Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Dental Medicine and Health Osijek, J. J. Strossmayer University of Osijek, Osijek 31000, Croatia

Nenad Lakušić, Department of Internal Medicine, Family Medicine and History of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Osijek, J. J. Strossmayer University of Osijek, Osijek 31000, Croatia

Corresponding author: Ivana Sopek Merkaš, MD, Doctor, Department of Cardiology, Special Hospital for Medical Rehabilitation Krapinske Toplice, No. 2 Gajeva, Krapinske Toplice 49217, Croatia. ivana.sopek@sbkt.hr

Abstract

In accordance with the guidelines established by prominent European and global cardiology associations, comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation (CR) stands as an officially endorsed and highly recommended therapeutic approach (class I recommendations; level of evidence A) for a diverse spectrum of cardiac patients. Nevertheless, it is a cause for concern to observe that fewer than 50% of eligible patients are being effectively referred for CR, whether in an outpatient or inpatient setting. Concurrently, studies reveal that a substantial proportion of individuals with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease maintain unhealthy lifestyles and exhibit suboptimal management of modifiable cardiovascular risk factors, including hypertension, lipid levels, and diabetes. Beyond the conventional patient profile encompassing those recovering from acute coronary syndrome with or without percutaneous coronary intervention, as well as patients who have undergone coronary or valvular surgery, contemporary CR now emphasizes specialized subgroups of patients. These include frail elderly patients, the female population with its unique considerations, individuals burdened by multiple cardiovascular comorbidities, those who have developed psychological consequences due to a cardiac illness and particularly those grappling with chronic heart failure. This editorial seeks to offer a state-of-the-art assessment of the significance and role of comprehensive CR within modern cardiology.

Key Words: Cardiac rehabilitation; Chronic heart failure; Treatment of heart failure; Cardiovascular disease; Psychological disorders; Posttraumatic stress disorder

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation (CR) is an established and endorsed therapeutic approach for a broad spectrum of cardiac patients. Nevertheless, it is concerning that fewer than 50% of eligible patients are being effectively referred for CR, whether in an outpatient or inpatient setting. This editorial aims to offer a contemporary perspective on the significance and role of comprehensive CR in modern cardiology.

Citation: Lakušić N, Sopek Merkaš I. Quo vadis cardiac rehabilitation; the role of comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation in modern cardiology. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(12): 627-632 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i12/627.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.627

INTRODUCTION

Cardiac rehabilitation (CR) programs involve a comprehensive medical evaluation and optimization of the health status of diverse patient groups, including those recovering from acute coronary syndrome (ACS) with or without percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), surgical myocardial revascularization coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), valvular surgery, various endovascular procedures transcatheter aortic valve implantation, endovascular aneurysm repair (EVAR), thoracic EVAR, etc., surgical management of congenital heart defects, peripheral arterial disease, and heart transplantation, among others[1].

CONTENT AND POSITIVE EFFECTS OF CR

CR programs stand as the most cost-effective intervention to ensure favorable outcomes across a broad spectrum of cardiovascular conditions[2]. These programs encompass physical training and counseling on future physical activity, the identification, assessment, and mitigation of various cardiovascular risk factors, optimization of medication regimens, psychosocial support, education on nutrition, weight management, the sustained benefits of regular exercise, its purpose, potential side effects, and the promotion of medication adherence. The overarching, long-term objectives of the CR program are to promote consistent unsupervised exercise, the adoption of a "healthy lifestyle", the reintegration of employed individuals into the workforce, and the enduring reduction of major adverse cardiac events (MACEs) as well as the deceleration of the cardiovascular continuum. Some of the well-documented short-term effects of CR encompass enhancements in lipid profiles, reductions in blood pressure, the management of type 2 diabetes, decreases in inflammation high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), heart rate normalization, improvements in ejection fraction, mitigation of adverse left ventricular remodeling, and the alleviation of emotional stress and depression, among others[2-**4**].

SAFETY OF THE CR

The safety of the CR program has remained unquestionably solid. For instance, data from the French registry of complications during CR reveal an exceptionally low incidence of expected adverse events or complications, such as 1 MACE occurring in more than 8000 stress tests, 1 MACE in every 50000 h of patient exercise, and 1.3 cardiac arrests per million hours of exercise[5].

INCONSISTENCY OF RECOMMENDATIONS VS CLINICAL PRACTICE RELATED TO CR

Considering all the information presented, the European Society of Cardiology and other prominent global cardiology associations have officially acknowledged CR as a highly effective and essential component in the comprehensive treatment of all categories of cardiology patients. They have included CR in their guidelines, assigning it class I recommendations and a level of evidence A[2-4,6,7]. Despite this, it remains a matter of concern that less than half of eligible patients are actually referred for CR, whether in an outpatient or inpatient setting [2,3,7,8].

On the other hand, findings from extensive studies like Euroaspire indicate that a substantial portion of patients with established atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (CVD) continue to maintain unhealthy lifestyles and struggle with inadequate control of modifiable cardiovascular risk factors, including elevated blood pressure, unfavorable lipid profiles, and diabetes. For instance, 55% of these patients were persistent smokers, 38% were categorized as obese (with a body mass index of \geq 30 kg/m²), 66% engaged in physical activity for less than 30 min five times a week, 42% had blood pressure equal to or exceeding 140/90 mmHg, and 71% exhibited low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels of 1.8 mmol/ L or higher. The authors rightly emphasize that "cardiovascular prevention requires modern preventive cardiology programs delivered by interdisciplinary teams of healthcare professionals addressing all aspects of lifestyle and risk factor management, in order to reduce the risk of recurrent cardiovascular events"[9].



CENTER-BASED VS HOME-BASED CR

According to the new systematic review [10], home-based CR (HBCR) could offer a secure and practical alternative to traditional center-based CR (CBCR). Research suggests that the HBCR model may serve as an equitable intervention approach for stable patients with CVD across all risk levels for exercise-related cardiovascular complications, particularly for those who are unable to access CBCR services. Moreover, the integration of artificial intelligence, with its robust data mining and interpretation capabilities, holds substantial future promise for HBCR. Tailored HBCR programs can be implemented by harnessing artificial intelligence through wearable monitoring and personalized coaching[10].

HYBRID CR

In the current medical setting, the duration of hospital stays for patients with conditions like ACS or acute HF has notably shortened, often leaving insufficient time for comprehensive patient education regarding their medical condition. Hence, CR programs, whether in outpatient, inpatient, or hybrid formats, have become essential and ideal for ensuring the complete and long-term effectiveness of interventional, surgical, or medical treatments^[11]. Particularly during the challenging period of the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic[12], hybrid CR has gained prominence, proving to be a safe and efficient alternative to traditional rehabilitation care, offering numerous benefits for CVD patients[13,14]. Research have demonstrated the safety and effectiveness of hybrid CR exercise programs, which not only reduce the cost of delivery but also enhance patient participation [15,16]. In the latest review [16], it was revealed that hybrid CR provided similar short-term outcomes to traditional CR for patients with coronary artery disease. A recent systematic review [17] demonstrated that telerehabilitation, centered on exercise, is equally cost-effective when compared to traditional CBCR interventions. European Association of Preventive Cardiology strongly encourages the development and seamless integration of alternative digital modalities, like telerehabilitation, to offer comprehensive CR in a more refined and effective manner^[12].

PATIENTS OUTCOMES AFTER CR

In a meta-analysis comprising 85 randomized controlled trials involving 23430 individuals with coronary heart disease, exercise-based CR demonstrated improved outcomes across short-term (6 to 12 mo), medium-term (> 12 to 36 mo), and long-term (> 3 years) follow-up periods. Short-term effects included reductions in myocardial infarction rates and allcause hospitalizations, while medium and long-term effects were associated with decreased cardiovascular mortality [18]. Additionally, a recent study by Bauer et al[19] has affirmed that CR leads to a reduction in 2-year mortality following CABG.

SPECIALIZED PATIENT SUBGROUPS

In addition to the conventional patient profile (comprising individuals post-ACS with or without PCI, coronary or valvular surgery), contemporary CR now places emphasis on specialized patient subgroups. These include frail elderly patients[20], the female population, with consideration for its unique characteristics (as women are less frequently referred to CR!)[21], individuals with multiple cardiovascular comorbidities, those who have undergone transcatheter implantation or valve repair, and particularly patients with chronic heart failure (HF) (CHF)[7,22,23].

Results from global survey on barriers to CR based on gender indicate that barriers to CR differ significantly between men and women across various regions, underscoring the need for region-specific, customized approaches to overcome these challenges[24]. For women, the primary barriers to enrollment encompass a lack of awareness, cost considerations, and concerns about experiencing fatigue or pain during exercise. When it comes to program adherence, women's main difficulties involve distance, transportation, and family responsibilities. Notably, non-working women experience more pronounced CR challenges. While personalized strategies aimed at addressing these challenges were highly beneficial to patients, there is a need for the implementation of automatic referral and the provision of a choice of reimbursed CR models with elements tailored to women to effectively address the primary barriers identified [24].

PATIENTS WITH CHF AND CR

Patients with CHF exhibit a significant degree of heterogeneity, forming an increasingly diverse population with a wide array of characteristics, including comorbidities, symptoms, clinical stability or instability, with preserved or varying degrees of reduced ejection fraction of the left ventricle. In patients with compensated HF with reduced ejection fraction, regular exercise has been shown to reduce both total hospitalizations and those related to HF, enhance exercise tolerance, and improve overall quality of life, including a reduction in depressive symptoms[7,22]. Taylor et al[7] aptly underscores in their recent publication that CR should be regarded as an essential, the fifth pillar in the treatment of HF patients, alongside pharmacological interventions such as beta-blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin



Figure 1 Comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation in modern cardiology.

receptor-neprilysin inhibitors, sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors, and medical devices.

ADDITIONAL ADVANTAGES OF THE CR PROGRAMS

An emerging concern in recent years has been the early recognition and intervention in a wide spectrum of psychological disorders following ACS or cardiac surgery, potentially leading to post-traumatic stress disorder. These patients often go unnoticed and are known to experience a lower quality of life, an increased incidence of MACEs, and an overall poorer prognosis compared to those without such disorders[11]. Comprehensive CR, with individualized patient assessments, provides an opportune moment for recognizing and treating these psychological disorders. A multidisciplinary team approach, which actively involves psychologists and psychiatrists, is essential for comprehensive management[11,25].

CONCLUSION

Taking all the above into account, it is evident that CR programs are effective, safe, cost-effective for society, and an indispensable component of the treatment for a broad spectrum of cardiac patients. Instead of providing a traditional conclusion, we would like to conclude this editorial with a message we consistently impart to our patients: "CR cannot change a patient's past, but it unquestionably holds the potential to enhance the future of the patient's heart, with a highquality life without MACEs" (Figure 1).

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Lakušić N and Sopek Merkaš I were responsible for the conception and design of the manuscript, literature review, data collection and processing, and they wrote the first original draft; both authors issued approval for the final version to be submitted.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the



original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Croatia

ORCID number: Nenad Lakušić 0000-0002-2329-2582; Ivana Sopek Merkaš 0000-0002-0888-5005.

S-Editor: Qu XL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- Winnige P, Vysoky R, Dosbaba F, Batalik L. Cardiac rehabilitation and its essential role in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular 1 diseases. World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 1761-1784 [PMID: 33748226 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i8.1761]
- Ambrosetti M, Abreu A, Corrà U, Davos CH, Hansen D, Frederix I, Iliou MC, Pedretti RFE, Schmid JP, Vigorito C, Voller H, Wilhelm M, 2 Piepoli MF, Bjarnason-Wehrens B, Berger T, Cohen-Solal A, Cornelissen V, Dendale P, Doehner W, Gaita D, Gevaert AB, Kemps H, Kraenkel N, Laukkanen J, Mendes M, Niebauer J, Simonenko M, Zwisler AO. Secondary prevention through comprehensive cardiovascular rehabilitation: From knowledge to implementation. 2020 update. A position paper from the Secondary Prevention and Rehabilitation Section of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2021; 28: 460-495 [PMID: 33611446 DOI: 10.1177/2047487320913379
- Visseren FLJ, Mach F, Smulders YM, Carballo D, Koskinas KC, Bäck M, Benetos A, Biffi A, Boavida JM, Capodanno D, Cosyns B, 3 Crawford C, Davos CH, Desormais I, Di Angelantonio E, Franco OH, Halvorsen S, Hobbs FDR, Hollander M, Jankowska EA, Michal M, Sacco S, Sattar N, Tokgozoglu L, Tonstad S, Tsioufis KP, van Dis I, van Gelder IC, Wanner C, Williams B; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2022; 29: 5-115 [PMID: 34558602 DOI: 10.1093/eurjpc/zwab154]
- Taylor RS, Fredericks S, Jones I, Neubeck L, Sanders J, De Stoutz N, Thompson DR, Wadhwa DN, Grace SL. Global perspectives on heart 4 disease rehabilitation and secondary prevention: a scientific statement from the Association of Cardiovascular Nursing and Allied Professions, European Association of Preventive Cardiology, and International Council of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. Eur Heart J 2023; 44: 2515-2525 [PMID: 37477626 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehad225]
- 5 Pavy B, Iliou MC, Meurin P, Tabet JY, Corone S; Functional Evaluation and Cardiac Rehabilitation Working Group of the French Society of Cardiology. Safety of exercise training for cardiac patients: results of the French registry of complications during cardiac rehabilitation. Arch Intern Med 2006; 166: 2329-2334 [PMID: 17130385 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.166.21.2329]
- Byrne RA, Rossello X, Coughlan JJ, Barbato E, Berry C, Chieffo A, Claeys MJ, Dan GA, Dweck MR, Galbraith M, Gilard M, Hinterbuchner 6 L, Jankowska EA, Jüni P, Kimura T, Kunadian V, Leosdottir M, Lorusso R, Pedretti RFE, Rigopoulos AG, Rubini Gimenez M, Thiele H, Vranckx P, Wassmann S, Wenger NK, Ibanez B; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2023 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes. Eur Heart J 2023; 44: 3720-3826 [PMID: 37622654 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehad191]
- 7 Taylor RS, Dalal HM, Zwisler AD. Cardiac rehabilitation for heart failure: 'Cinderella' or evidence-based pillar of care? Eur Heart J 2023; 44: 1511-1518 [PMID: 36905176 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehad118]
- 8 Bjarnason-Wehrens B, McGee H, Zwisler AD, Piepoli MF, Benzer W, Schmid JP, Dendale P, Pogosova NG, Zdrenghea D, Niebauer J, Mendes M; Cardiac Rehabilitation Section European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. Cardiac rehabilitation in Europe: results from the European Cardiac Rehabilitation Inventory Survey. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2010; 17: 410-418 [PMID: 20300001 DOI: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e328334f42d]
- Kotseva K, De Backer G, De Bacquer D, Rydén L, Hoes A, Grobbee D, Maggioni A, Marques-Vidal P, Jennings C, Abreu A, Aguiar C, 9 Badariene J, Bruthans J, Castro Conde A, Cifkova R, Crowley J, Davletov K, Deckers J, De Smedt D, De Sutter J, Dilic M, Dolzhenko M, Dzerve V, Erglis A, Fras Z, Gaita D, Gotcheva N, Heuschmann P, Hasan-Ali H, Jankowski P, Lalic N, Lehto S, Lovic D, Mancas S, Mellbin L, Milicic D, Mirrakhimov E, Oganov R, Pogosova N, Reiner Z, Stöerk S, Tokgözoğlu L, Tsioufis C, Vulic D, Wood D; EUROASPIRE Investigators*. Lifestyle and impact on cardiovascular risk factor control in coronary patients across 27 countries: Results from the European Society of Cardiology ESC-EORP EUROASPIRE V registry. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2019; 26: 824-835 [PMID: 30739508 DOI: 10.1177/2047487318825350
- Stefanakis M, Batalik L, Antoniou V, Pepera G. Safety of home-based cardiac rehabilitation: A systematic review. Heart Lung 2022; 55: 117-10 126 [PMID: 35533492 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2022.04.016]
- 11 Lakušić N, Kamenečki G, Sopek Merkaš I, Cerovec D, Fučkar K, Gabrić ID, Trbusic M, Cerkez Habrek J. Posttraumatic Stress Disorder after Acute Coronary Syndrome or Cardiac Surgery; Underestimated Reality. Cardiol Croat 2020; 15: 3-8 [DOI: 10.15836/ccar2020.3]
- Scherrenberg M, Wilhelm M, Hansen D, Völler H, Cornelissen V, Frederix I, Kemps H, Dendale P. The future is now: a call for action for 12 cardiac telerehabilitation in the COVID-19 pandemic from the secondary prevention and rehabilitation section of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2021; 28: 524-540 [PMID: 32615796 DOI: 10.1177/2047487320939671]
- Yang Z, Jia X, Li J, Mei Z, Yang L, Yan C, Han Y. Efficacy and Safety of Hybrid Comprehensive Telerehabilitation (HCTR) for Cardiac 13 Rehabilitation in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Occup Ther Int 2023; 2023: 5147805 [PMID: 37593110 DOI: 10.1155/2023/5147805]
- Hansen D, Dendale P, Coninx K, Vanhees L, Piepoli MF, Niebauer J, Cornelissen V, Pedretti R, Geurts E, Ruiz GR, Corrà U, Schmid JP, 14 Greco E, Davos CH, Edelmann F, Abreu A, Rauch B, Ambrosetti M, Braga SS, Barna O, Beckers P, Bussotti M, Fagard R, Faggiano P, Garcia-Porrero E, Kouidi E, Lamotte M, Neunhäuserer D, Reibis R, Spruit MA, Stettler C, Takken T, Tonoli C, Vigorito C, Völler H, Doherty P. The European Association of Preventive Cardiology Exercise Prescription in Everyday Practice and Rehabilitative Training (EXPERT) tool: A digital training and decision support system for optimized exercise prescription in cardiovascular disease. Concept, definitions and construction methodology. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2017; 24: 1017-1031 [PMID: 28420250 DOI: 10.1177/2047487317702042]
- 15 Loureiro Diaz J, Foster LD, Surendran PJ, Jacob P, Ibrahim O, Gupta P. Developing and delivering a hybrid Cardiac Rehabilitation Phase II



exercise program during the COVID-19 pandemic: a quality improvement program. BMJ Open Qual 2023; 12 [PMID: 37257915 DOI: 10.1136/bmjoq-2022-002202]

- Heindl B, Ramirez L, Joseph L, Clarkson S, Thomas R, Bittner V. Hybrid cardiac rehabilitation The state of the science and the way forward. 16 Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2022; 70: 175-182 [PMID: 34958846 DOI: 10.1016/j.pcad.2021.12.004]
- Batalik L, Filakova K, Sladeckova M, Dosbaba F, Su J, Pepera G. The cost-effectiveness of exercise-based cardiac telerehabilitation 17 intervention: a systematic review. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2023; 59: 248-258 [PMID: 36692413 DOI: 10.23736/S1973-9087.23.07773-0]
- Dibben GO, Faulkner J, Oldridge N, Rees K, Thompson DR, Zwisler AD, Taylor RS. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart 18 disease: a meta-analysis. Eur Heart J 2023; 44: 452-469 [PMID: 36746187 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac747]
- Bauer TM, Yaser JM, Daramola T, Mansour AI, Ailawadi G, Pagani FD, Theurer P, Likosky DS, Keteyian SJ, Thompson MP. Cardiac 19 Rehabilitation Reduces 2-Year Mortality After Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting. Ann Thorac Surg 2023; 116: 1099-1105 [PMID: 37392993 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2023.05.044]
- 20 Vigorito C, Abreu A, Ambrosetti M, Belardinelli R, Corrà U, Cupples M, Davos CH, Hoefer S, Iliou MC, Schmid JP, Voeller H, Doherty P. Frailty and cardiac rehabilitation: A call to action from the EAPC Cardiac Rehabilitation Section. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2017; 24: 577-590 [PMID: 27940954 DOI: 10.1177/2047487316682579]
- Suaya JA, Shepard DS, Normand SL, Ades PA, Prottas J, Stason WB. Use of cardiac rehabilitation by Medicare beneficiaries after myocardial 21 infarction or coronary bypass surgery. Circulation 2007; 116: 1653-1662 [PMID: 17893274 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.701466]
- Sopek Merkaš I, Slišković AM, Lakušić N. Current concept in the diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation of patients with congestive heart 22 failure. World J Cardiol 2021; 13: 183-203 [PMID: 34367503 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v13.i7.183]
- 23 Hansen D, Beckers P, Neunhäuserer D, Bjarnason-Wehrens B, Piepoli MF, Rauch B, Völler H, Corrà U, Garcia-Porrero E, Schmid JP, Lamotte M, Doherty P, Reibis R, Niebauer J, Dendale P, Davos CH, Kouidi E, Spruit MA, Vanhees L, Cornelissen V, Edelmann F, Barna O, Stettler C, Tonoli C, Greco E, Pedretti R, Abreu A, Ambrosetti M, Braga SS, Bussotti M, Faggiano P, Takken T, Vigorito C, Schwaab B, Coninx K. Standardised Exercise Prescription for Patients with Chronic Coronary Syndrome and/or Heart Failure: A Consensus Statement from the EXPERT Working Group. Sports Med 2023; 53: 2013-2037 [PMID: 37648876 DOI: 10.1007/s40279-023-01909-x]
- Ghisi GLM, Kim WS, Cha S, Aljehani R, Cruz MMA, Vanderlei LCM, Pepera G, Liu X, Xu Z, Maskhulia L, Venturini E, Chuang HJ, Pereira 24 DG, Trevizan PF, Kouidi E, Batalik L, Ghanbari Firoozabadi M, Burazor I, Jiandani MP, Zhang L, Tourkmani N, Grace SL. Women's Cardiac Rehabilitation Barriers: Results of the International Council of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation's First Global Assessment. Can J Cardiol 2023 [PMID: 37747380 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2023.07.016]
- 25 Sopek Merkaš I, Lakušić N, Sonicki Z, Koret B, Vuk Pisk S, Filipčić I. Prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder following acute coronary syndrome and clinical characteristics of patients referred to cardiac rehabilitation. World J Psychiatry 2023; 13: 376-385 [PMID: 37383282 DOI: 10.5498/wjp.v13.i6.376]



W T C World Journ Cardiology

World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 December 26; 15(12): 633-641

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.633

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Efficacy and prognostic impact of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection combined with nicorandil for intractable angina pectoris in elderly patients: A retrospective study

Jun Li, Mo-Wei Kong, Yu-Yu Xie, Ze-Bi Wang, Li Xu, Guo-Xiang He

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ong H, Malaysia; Lakusic, Croatia

Received: September 5, 2023 Peer-review started: September 5, 2023 First decision: October 9, 2023 Revised: October 15, 2023 Accepted: November 30, 2023 Article in press: November 30, 2023 Published online: December 26, 2023



Jun Li, Mo-Wei Kong, Ze-Bi Wang, Li Xu, Guo-Xiang He, Department of Cardiology, Guiqian International General Hospital, Guiyang 550018, Guizhou Province, China

Yu-Yu Xie, Department of Dermatology, Guiqian International General Hospital, Guiyang 550018, Guizhou Province, China

Corresponding author: Mo-Wei Kong, MD, Doctor, Department of Cardiology, Guiqian International General Hospital, No. 1 Dongfeng Avenue, Wudang Distinct, Guiyang 550018, Guizhou Province, China. 1600181272@qq.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is a leading cause of global cardiovascular mortality. Refractory angina pectoris, a manifestation of CAD, requires effective drug treatments. Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection, a traditional Chinese medicine, improves cardiovascular symptoms, while nicorandil alleviates spasms and angina. Both have potential in treating CAD.

AIM

To investigate the therapeutic effects of combining Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil in elderly patients suffering from refractory angina caused by coronary heart disease.

METHODS

A retrospective analysis was conducted on the data of 130 patients diagnosed with refractory coronary heart disease. Based on the different treatment regimens administered during hospitalization, the patients were divided into a control group (58 cases) and a study group (72 cases). The control group received conventional treatment, which included aspirin, statins, and nitrate vasodilators. In addition to the conventional medication, the study group received a combination treatment of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil.

RESULTS

After treatment, the study group showed significantly higher left ventricular ejection fraction and cardiac output, and lower brain natriuretic peptide and Creactive protein levels compared to the control group. The study group also



Li J et al. Therapeutic effects of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection

exhibited improvements in angina, quality of life, exercise endurance, and lipid profiles. Multivariate logistic regression analysis revealed a relationship of lipid levels and heart function with the combined treatment. Some patients in the study group experienced headaches during treatment, but no significant adverse reactions were observed. Follow-up showed that the treatment was well-tolerated, with no drug-related adverse reactions detected.

CONCLUSION

Combination of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil is more effective than conventional treatment in improving symptoms and heart function in elderly patients with refractory angina pectoris.

Key Words: Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection; Coronary heart disease; Intractable angina pectoris; Nicorandil

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Combining Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil shows promise in improving symptoms and heart function in elderly patients with refractory angina caused by coronary disease, as demonstrated by a retrospective study. This combination resulted in significant improvements in left ventricular function, cardiac output, angina frequency, quality of life, exercise tolerance, and lipid profiles. The therapy was well-tolerated with minimal adverse reactions. These findings highlight the potential of this combined treatment as an effective therapeutic option for refractory angina in elderly patients.

Citation: Li J, Kong MW, Xie YY, Wang ZB, Xu L, He GX. Efficacy and prognostic impact of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection combined with nicorandil for intractable angina pectoris in elderly patients: A retrospective study. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(12): 633-641

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i12/633.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.633

INTRODUCTION

Coronary artery disease (CAD) has become the leading cause of death from cardiovascular diseases worldwide, with its mortality rate only second to cancer[1]. The high prevalence of CAD is closely related to factors such as inflammation, metabolic disorders, arteriosclerosis, and thrombosis. Refractory angina pectoris is a manifestation of CAD, and refers to angina symptoms caused by coronary artery lesions that do not significantly improve or become controllable under conventional treatments (such as medication and percutaneous coronary intervention)[2]. The elderly population is a high-risk group for refractory angina, and the treatment outcomes are generally poor[2]. For refractory angina pectoris, excellent drug treatment options are crucial. Currently, drug therapy is one of the preferred methods for the treatment and prevention of cardiovascular diseases. However, many treatment options face problems such as poor efficacy and severe side effects.

Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection, a traditional Chinese medicine, is widely used in the treatment of cardiocerebrovascular diseases[3]. Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection can improve the symptoms of cardiovascular diseases such as arteriosclerosis through its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects. Some studies have also found that Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection can improve blood lipids, which is beneficial for the prognosis of coronary heart disease[4]. Nicorandil relaxes coronary vascular smooth muscle by stimulating guanylyl cyclase and increasing cyclic GMP levels as well as by a second mechanism resulting in activation of K+ channels and hyperpolarizationm, that can alleviate symptoms such as coronary spasms and angina. Some studies have shown that nicorandil also has some effect in treating hypertension and heart failure^[5].

In the past few decades, the combined use of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases has received widespread attention. However, there is currently a lack of evaluation studies for elderly patients, and it is unclear what impact this combined treatment option has on the efficacy and safety for older patients. The aim of this study was to explore the efficacy and prognostic impact of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection combined with nicorandil in the treatment of refractory angina pectoris in elderly patients, and to provide clinical decision support for the future treatment of coronary heart disease in elderly patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

General information

Case data: This was a multicenter study. After screening using the inclusion and exclusion criteria, 148 patients' medical records (age 72-89 years) with coronary heart disease and refractory angina pectoris admitted to Guiqian International General Hospital and Chengdu Fifth People's Hospital between March 2021 and January 2023 were selected. After



screening and excluding cases that did not meet the criteria, a total of 130 patients were finally included in the statistical analysis, with 72 in the study group and 58 in the control group. All studies used the same method for data collection, and the screening process is shown in Figure 1. There were no significant differences in general data between the two groups (P > 0.05) (Table 1).

Diagnostic criteria: The diagnosis of coronary heart disease was based on the diagnostic criteria established by the Chinese Medical Association for Coronary Heart Disease: (1) Confirmation of at least one major coronary artery with luminal stenosis ≥ 50% through coronary angiography; (2) Auxiliary examinations such as electrocardiography, cardiac troponin, and exercise testing indicating myocardial ischemia, coronary heart disease, or acute coronary syndrome; and (3) Presence of typical angina symptoms such as chest tightness and chest pain. The diagnosis of coronary heart disease was made if was met and at the same time or was also met. The diagnostic criteria for refractory angina pectoris mainly included: (1) Pain: Persistent angina symptoms for > 3 mo, with no obvious cause or significant improvement despite ongoing treatment; and (2) Congestive heart failure.

Inclusion criteria: (1) Applicants who met the above diagnostic criteria; (2) Inclusion criteria; and (3) The medical records were complete.

Exclusion criteria: (1) Cardiac insufficiency secondary to other diseases; (2) Acute onset of severe myocardial infarction; (3) In severe liver disease, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase were twice the upper limit of the reference range; (4) Malignant tumors; and (5) Surgery within 2 wk.

Methods

Treatment approach: The control group was treated according to the conventional Western Medicine Guidelines for Coronary Heart Disease (2nd edition)[6] and the recommendations of the China Coronary Heart Disease Prevention Strategy 2015[7]. This systematic and individualized medication included nitrate drugs to dilate coronary arteries and increase myocardial blood flow, statins and antiplatelet drugs, as well as calcium channel blockers and β -receptor blockers to reduce myocardial contractility and heart rate, thereby reducing myocardial oxygen consumption. For patients with underlying diseases such as hypertension and diabetes, hypoglycemic and antihypertensive treatments were given. The treatment course was 1-2 wk, and after discharge, patients were advised to take long-term secondary prevention drugs for coronary heart disease and to attend follow-up visits at 2 mo, 6 mo, and 1 year.

The treatment group, in addition to the conventional treatment of the control group, was given a combination treatment of nicorandil and Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection. Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection (Shanghai Shybio Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.) was administered at 12 mL/dose, once daily. Nicorandil (Sihuan Kebao Pharmaceutical) was administered at 5 mg/dose, three times daily. The treatment continued for 1-2 wk. After discharge, patients were advised to take long-term secondary preventive drugs for coronary heart disease, and nicorandil, and to attend follow-up visits at 2 mo, 6 mo, and 1 year. The clinical efficacy of the two groups of patients after treatment was compared.

Efficacy evaluation: The efficacy of treatment of refractory angina pectoris in coronary heart disease was evaluated using multiple indicators, including improvement in cardiac function, frequency and duration of angina, exercise tolerance, quality of life, and cardiovascular events[8]. Specific evaluation indicators included the following: (1) Cardiac function evaluation was performed using cardiac ultrasound, including left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), cardiac output (CO), stroke volume, and heart rate. Data on B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and C-reactive protein (CRP) were collected during the treatment process; (2) Changes in the frequency and duration of angina: The Canadian Cardiovascular Society (CCS) angina scale was used to evaluate the treatment effect based on improvement in subjective symptoms and signs; (3) Changes in exercise tolerance: Maximum exercise tolerance and angina attacks before and after treatment were evaluated through a treadmill test combined with a 6-min walking test (6MWT); (4) Changes in quality of life: Changes in quality of life were evaluated using the self-acceptance questionnaire (SAQ); and (5) Occurrence of cardiovascular events: Through 2 years of follow-up, the occurrence of cardiovascular endpoints was observed, including sudden cardiac death, myocardial infarction, heart failure, and fatal arrhythmia. Sudden cardiac death was defined as sudden and unexpected death, within 1 h after the onset of cardiac-related symptoms, or no evidence other than cardiac disease was found within 24 h after the onset of symptoms. This definition was jointly established by the American Heart Association and European Society of Cardiology [9,10]. Myocardial infarction was defined based on clinical manifestations, electrocardiography, myocardial enzyme studies, and imaging examinations[11]. Heart failure was defined by clinical manifestations such as dyspnea, fatigue, and generalized edema; signs including cardiac murmurs, enlarged cardiac borders, and increased heart rate; cardiac function assessment including elevated BNP or NT-proBNP in the blood, and echocardiography and/or magnetic resonance imaging showing decreased ventricular contractile function [12]. Fatal arrhythmia was defined by clinical manifestations of syncope or sudden death, and electrocardiography showed types of arrhythmia including ventricular tachycardia, ventricular fibrillation, and long QT syndrome[13].

Assessment and measurement of blood lipids: We determined the changes in lipid levels before and after treatment in patients through medical records. The diagnostic criteria for hyperlipidemia were: (1) Serum high-density lipoprotein (HDL) < 9.0 mmol/L; (2) Total cholesterol (TC) \ge 2.1 mmol/L; and (3) Serum triglyceride (TG) \ge 1.70 mmol/L.

Statistical analysis

We used SPSS version 20.0 statistical software for statistical analyses. Quantitative data that conformed to a normal distribution are expressed as the mean ± SD, and single-factor analysis of variance was used for comparisons among multiple groups; least significant difference t test was used for pairwise comparisons; and independent sample t test was used for



Li J et al. Therapeutic effects of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection

Table 1 General data for patients (mean ± SD), n (%)							
	Overall (<i>n</i> = 130)	Study group (<i>n</i> = 72)	Control group (<i>n</i> = 58)	P value			
Age (yr)	73 ± 10	72 ± 11	74 ± 6	0.42			
Males	78 (60)	40 (56)	38 (66)	0.09			
Heart rate (bpm)	72 ± 16	71 ± 16	72 ± 17	0.01 ^a			
Systolic pressure (mmHg)	114 ± 21	114 ± 20	119 ± 22	0.27			
Diastolic pressure (mmHg)	73 ± 16	71 ± 9	76 ± 7	0.14			
LVEF (%)	77 ± 15	77 ± 10	75 ± 11	0.47			
Creatinine (mmol/L)	100 ± 52	92 ± 44	99 ± 40	0.21			
Arterial high pressure	10 (8)	6 (8)	4 (7)	0.62			
Diabetes mellitus	22 (17)	13 (18)	9 (16)	0.76			
Dyslipidemia	44 (34)	25 (35)	19(33)	0.22			
Current smoking	50 (38)	24 (33)	26(45)	0.62			
Antithrombotics							
Aspirin	84(65)	50(69)	34 (59)	0.11			
Clopidogrel	46 (35)	26 (36)	20 (34)	0.50			
Direct oral anticoagulant	6 (5)	4(6)	2(3)	0.42			

 $^{a}P < 0.05$, statistically significant.

LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.633 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Screening of study subjects. CHD: Coronary heart disease.

comparisons between two groups. Categorical data are expressed as percentages, and the χ^2 test was used for comparisons. Logistic regression analysis was performed on indicators with significant differences in single-factor analysis, and *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Comparison of cardiac function before and after treatment

Before treatment, there was no significant difference in LVEF, CO, BNP, CRP, or other indicators between the two groups (P > 0.05). After treatment, compared with the control group, the study group had higher LVEF and CO, and lower BNP and CRP, with significant differences (P < 0.05) (Table 2).

Table 2 Comparison of cardiac function before and after treatment in both groups (mean \pm SD)								
Group	LVEF, %		CO, L/min		BNP, ng/L		CRP, mg/L	
Group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group
Pretherapy	43.3 ± 2.2	47.3 ± 2.2	4.8 ± 0.0	5.2 ± 0.3	724.5 ± 42.5	405.7 ± 57.4	17.4 ± 3.4	11.2 ± 1.2
Post-treatment	44.7 ± 4.1	54.5 ± 4.6	4.9 ± 0.2	5.6 ± 0.4	711.5 ± 33.4	282.6 ± 44.3	17.6 ± 3.2	8.4 ± 1.2
t	0.6	14.2	0.2	0.8	31.7	296.5	4.7	5.1
P value	0.25	0.01 ^a	0.38	0.04 ^a	0.03 ^a	0.00 ^a	0.60	0.03 ^a

^a*P* < 0.05, statistically significant.

LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction; CO: Cardiac output; BNP: Brain natriuretic peptide; CRP: C-reactive protein.

Evaluation of angina symptoms, quality of life, and exercise tolerance before and after treatment

Before treatment, there was no significant difference in CCS angina classification, SQA scores, or 6MWT between the groups (P > 0.05). After treatment, compared with the control group, the study group showed improvement in chest pain symptoms, with a significant decrease in CCS angina classification (P < 0.05) and a significant improvement in 6MWT (P < 0.05). However, the improvement in SQA scores was not significant (Table 3).

Comparison of Low-density lipoprotein, High-density lipoprotein, Total cholesterol, and Triglyceride levels before and after treatment

There was no significant difference in serum low-density lipoprotein (LDL), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), total cholesterol (TC), or triglyceride (TG) between the two groups before treatment (P > 0.05). After 2 mo of treatment, the study group showed a significant decrease in TC and TG compared with the control group, while LDL and HDL did not show significant changes (P > 0.01) (Table 4).

Multivariate logistic regression analysis of therapeutic effects of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection combined with nicorandil

LDL, HDL, TC, and TG (lipid indexes) as well as LVEF, CO, BNP, and CRP (cardiac function indexes) were used as independent variables, and whether to use Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection combined with nicorandil was used as the dependent variable in the multiple logistic regression. LDL, TC, TG, LVEF, CO, and BNP were significantly related to the use of the combination therapy (P < 0.05), and the combined treatment had an inhibitory effect on LDL, TC, TG, and BNP, and a promotive effect on LVEF and CO (Table 5).

Adverse reactions and follow-up

During the treatment period, 12 (16.7%) patients in the study group experienced headaches, with an average duration of 4 d and self-resolution. Throughout the entire treatment process, there was no impact on blood pressure, heart rate, or oxygen saturation in any of the patients. All 130 patients successfully completed the treatment, and 92 (71%) completed follow-up, with a median duration of 8.5 (3-12) mo. During follow-up, two patients in the study group and three in the control group died of respiratory failure caused by coronavirus disease 2019 at the 6-12-mo follow-up. No other related adverse reactions occurred in the patients during follow-up, and there were no deaths due to other causes.

DISCUSSION

Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection is a traditional Chinese medicine formulation that has been widely used in the treatment of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases in recent years. Multiple studies have shown that Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection has significant clinical efficacy and minimal adverse reactions. A clinical study demonstrated that Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection significantly reduced the severity of angina and myocardial ischemic time, while also lowering the levels of myocardial enzymes, indicating its cardioprotective effects[14]. Another randomized controlled trial demonstrated that Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection has a significant effect in relieving symptoms and improving hemodynamic parameters in patients with angina[15]. Nicorandil has been widely used in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases such as arrhythmia and hypertension. In recent years, researchers have conducted in-depth studies on the pharmacology and clinical applications of nicorandil. A meta-analysis of nicorandil extended-release tablets found that it can significantly reduce blood pressure and heart rate, with a more pronounced effect on patients with cardiovascular diseases[16]. Another prospective study on critically ill cardiovascular disease patients using a cardiac support system demonstrated that nicorandil significantly reduced mortality and the risk of cardiovascular events. Nicorandil is also widely used in protection against myocardial ischemia. A study showed that nicorandil reduced myocardial infarct size and improved myocardial contractility through various mechanisms, such as inhibiting calcium ion influx and protecting mitochondrial membrane potential [17]. However, there is currently no relevant research on the combined use of these two drugs to improve cardiac function, and there is also a lack of research into the treatment of



Table 3 Comparison of cardiac function before and after treatment between both groups (mean \pm SD)							
Crown	CCS angina grade	e (score)	SAQ grade (score	SAQ grade (score)		6WMT (m)	
Group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group	
Pretherapy	1.6 ± 0.5	1.0 ± 0.5	66.4 ± 12.5	60.9 ± 16.0	352.4 ± 100.2	414.2 ± 84.1	
Post-treatment	1.3 ± 0.7	1.8 ± 0.5	68.3 ± 10.7	63.3 ± 16.3	385.0 ± 110.1	371.2 ± 85.2	
t	2.8	13.2	28.5	33.6	28.7	225.1	
P value	0.76	0.02 ^a	0.36	0.53	0.85	0.01 ^a	

^a*P* < 0.05, statistically significant.

CCS: Canadian Cardiovascular Society; SAQ: Self-acceptance questionnaire; 6MWT: 6-min walking test.

Table 4 Comparison of blood lipid levels before and after treatment (mean ± SD)								
Group	LDL (mmol/L)		HDL (mmol/L)		TC (mmol/L)		TG (mmol/L)	
Group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group	Control group	Study group
Pretherapy	3.6 ± 1.4	1.6 ± 3.1	1.3 ± 0.0	1.2 ± 0.3	9.0 ± 3.8	7.3 ± 1.4	6.2 ± 1.6	4.6 ± 0.6
Post-treatment	3.0 ± 2.1	1.4 ± 3.7	1.2 ± 0.2	1.3 ± 0.4	8.7 ± 2.2	5.2 ± 0.9	6.5 ± 1.4	3.2 ± 0.9
t	0.6	4.2	0.2	1.1	1.7	3.5	4.7	3.1
P value	0.26	0.54	0.18	0.11	0.32	0.01 ^a	0.60	0.03 ^a

 $^{a}P < 0.05$, statistically significant.

LDL: Low-density lipoprotein; HDL: High-density lipoprotein; TC: Total cholesterol; TG: Triglyceride.

Table 5 Logistic regression analysis of therapeutic effects of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection combined with nicorandil						
Variable	SE	Wald X ²	P value	OR (95%CI)		
LDL	1.12	1.26	0.03	0.30 (0.08-0.49)		
HDL	0.58	0.90	0.47	1.21 (1.02-1.87)		
TG	1.87	3.60	0.05	0.57 (0.24-0.75)		
TC	1.79	0.33	0.04	0.65 (0.43-0.69)		
LVEF	0.05	0.70	0.01	1.16 (1.00-1.27)		
СО	0.08	0.65	0.01	1.83 (1.02-2-36)		
BNP	2.75	5.60	0.03	0.44 (0.10-0.64)		
CRP	0.85	3.15	0.54	0.76 (0.23-0.95)		

LDL: Low-density lipoprotein; HDL: High-density lipoprotein; TC: Total cholesterol; TG: Triglyceride; LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction; CO: Cardiac output; BNP: Brain natriuretic peptide; CRP: C-reactive protein; OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval.

refractory angina. To fill this gap in the field, we conducted a retrospective study on 130 patients diagnosed with refractory angina admitted to our hospital.

In our study, the study group showed higher levels of LVEF and CO compared with the control group, while BNP and CRP levels were lower, with significant differences. This indicates that the combination therapy has significant advantages in improving heart function and reducing inflammatory responses. In the evaluation of angina improvement, quality of life, and exercise endurance, the study group demonstrated better CCS angina classification and 6MWT scores compared with the control group. This implies that the combination therapy not only improves cardiac function but also alleviates symptoms, improves quality of life, and enhances exercise endurance. These results are consistent with previous studies. Research has shown that Pericarpium Trichosanthis has the therapeutic effects of clearing heat, promoting diuresis, activating blood circulation, and dissolving stasis. It can improve microcirculation in the cardiovascular system, and promote the normal transportation and metabolism of calcium ions in myocardial cells, thereby improving heart function and alleviating angina[18]. Nicorandil, as a calcium channel blocker, can inhibit the influx of calcium ions into the vascular smooth muscle beneath the endocardium, reducing the tension and resistance of

Baisbidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

coronary arteries, and improving cardiac hemodynamics^[19]. However, there was no significant difference in SAQ scores between the two groups. This may be due to the wide individual variations among patients, as SAQ is a self-reported assessment. Additionally, the small sample size in this study may have limited the ability to detect significant differences.

The combined therapy showed a significant decrease in TC and TG levels compared with the control group, while LDL and HDL levels did not show significant changes. This suggests that the combination therapy of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil can improve lipid metabolism, but has little effect on LDL and HDL levels[8]. Previous studies have found that Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection may affect lipid metabolism through various mechanisms, including reducing cholesterol synthesis, promoting cholesterol metabolism and excretion, and regulating fatty acid synthesis^[20]. Current research indicates that the main active ingredients of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection are cucurbitacin and cucurbitic acid, which have various pharmacological effects such as heat-clearing, detoxification, dampness-eliminating, phlegm-removing, lipid-lowering, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory effects. Among them, cucurbitacin is believed to inhibit the activity of HMG-CoA reductase, thereby reducing cholesterol synthesis, while cucurbitic acid can promote cholesterol metabolism and excretion, and regulate fatty acid synthesis. This may be one of the mechanisms by which Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection reduces the incidence and mortality of chronic diseases such as cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases.

During the treatment period, 12 (16.7%) patients in the study group experienced headaches, which could potentially be related to nicorandil. Nicorandil is a calcium channel blocker that primarily acts on the heart and vascular smooth muscle, and is capable of dilating coronary arteries, peripheral vessels, and pulmonary arteries[21]. This results in a reduction in cardiac oxygen demand and blood ejection resistance, and a decrease in coronary artery contraction and spasm. However, during nicorandil treatment, adverse reactions such as headaches may occur, especially when first starting the medication. These headaches are usually mild and can resolve spontaneously, but they can sometimes affect the patient's comfort and quality of life. This might also be the reason why the study group did not outperform the control group in terms of SAQ scores in this study. After discharge, a total of 92 (71%) patients completed the follow-up, with a median duration of 8.5 (3-12) mo. During follow-up, some patients in both groups died from coronavirus disease 2019, and no drug-related adverse reactions were found. This suggests that the combined use of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil is safe and does not increase the incidence of adverse reactions.

While this study achieved significant clinical results, it still had some limitations. The protocol did not exclude the use of other drugs, which could potentially have influenced the results. In addition, the study sample was small, and larger studies are needed to verify the safety and effectiveness of this combination therapy. Looking back at the development of healthcare in recent years, the concept of combining traditional Chinese and Western medicine and the deepening of related research, along with the development and practical use of new drugs, have all effectively improved the incidence of coronary heart disease and its complications. In the field of medical practice, appropriately adjusting or updating existing prevention methods, improving the homeostasis of the patient's internal environment as much as possible, and reducing or eliminating the adverse effects caused by the disease, are the focus of clinical physicians.

CONCLUSION

The combination of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil is more effective than conventional treatment in improving symptoms and heart function in elderly patients with refractory angina pectoris.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is a global health concern that often leads to severe cardiovascular mortality. Refractory angina pectoris, a consequential manifestation of CAD, necessitates competent drug treatments. Two potential treatments include a traditional Chinese medicine known as Pericarpium Trichosanthis and a medication named nicorandil.

Research motivation

This research was driven by the need to investigate effective therapeutic procedures for elderly patients suffering from refractory angina pectoris due to CAD.

Research objectives

The primary objective for this research was to scrutinize the therapeutic impacts of a combined treatment, namely, Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil, on elderly patients with refractory angina pectoris caused by CAD.

Research methods

The study was performed as a retrospective study involving 130 patients diagnosed with refractory CAD; they were divided into control and intervention groups using digital randomization. While the control group received a routine treatment, the intervention group was subjected to the combined treatment of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil.



Li J et al. Therapeutic effects of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection

Research results

The patients in the study group demonstrated significant enhancements in heart performance and lifestyle quality. Few patients experienced headaches, but no severe side-effects were observed. No drug-related adverse reactions were noted upon follow-up.

Research conclusions

The combined treatment of Pericarpium Trichosanthis injection and nicorandil substantially surpasses conventional treatment methods in managing symptoms and heart functionality among elderly patients suffering from refractory angina pectoris.

Research perspectives

The beneficial findings of the present study pave the way towards further exploring this combined treatment's potential varying application for CAD and its consequent complications, ultimately improving patient wellness and prolonging life spans. Promisingly, it may add a significant contribution to personalized treatment approaches for CAD patients.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kong MW and Xie YY confirmed the authenticity of all the raw data; Kong MW wrote the manuscript; Li J, Wang ZB, and Xu L reviewed and revised the manuscript; and all authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The GIGH Research Ethics Committee (Guiyang, China) confirmed that the study complied with ethical requirements.

Informed consent statement: This study was conducted in compliance with the requirements of the Ethics Committee and informed consent was obtained from all participating patients. The privacy and confidentiality of the patients were strictly protected, and any identifying information was removed during the process of manuscript preparation to ensure patient anonymity. In the case of specific diagnostic images or other identifiable patient-related information, previous written consent was obtained and the current consent status has been maintained.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The data used in this study was collected from the databases of Guiqian International General Hospital and Chengdu Fifth People's Hospital, both of which are publicly available. The dataset includes information on demographics, medical history, and disease outcomes. The data can be accessed from the official website of Chengdu Fifth People's Hospital (www.cd5120.com). It is important to note that the dataset contains personal and private information of patients, therefore, any use or redistribution of the data beyond the scope of this study is strictly prohibited due to privacy concerns.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Mo-Wei Kong 0000-0002-1214-164X.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- GBD 2019 Chronic Respiratory Diseases Collaborators. Global burden of chronic respiratory diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: an 1 update from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. EClinicalMedicine 2023; 59: 101936 [PMID: 37229504 DOI: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.101936]
- Bauer D, Neuberg M, Nováčková M, Kočka V, Toušek P. Pre-hospital delay, clinical characteristics, angiographic findings, and in-hospital 2 mortality in young and middle-aged adults with acute coronary syndrome: a single-centre registry analysis. Eur Heart J Suppl 2023; 25: E33-E39 [PMID: 37234234 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartjsupp/suad102]
- Lin P, Wang Q, Liu Y, Jiang H, Lv W, Lan T, Qin Z, Yao X, Yao Z. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of the chemical profile for Gualou-Xiebai-Banxia decoction, a classical traditional Chinese medicine formula for the treatment of coronary heart disease, by UPLC-Q/TOF-MS combined with chemometric analysis. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2021; 197: 113950 [PMID: 33609948 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpba.2021.113950]
- 4 Zhu Y, Xia W, Liu W, Xu C, Gu N. Gualoupi (Pericarpium Trichosanthis) injection in combination with convention therapy for the treatment of angina pectoris: a Meta- analysis. J Tradit Chin Med 2017; 37: 1-11 [PMID: 29956895 DOI: 10.1016/s0254-6272(17)30020-1]



- Gitmez M, Lancellotti P. The effect of nicorandil on cardiac function and clinical outcomes in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction 5 patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomised trial. Acta Cardiol 2023; 78: 975-976 [PMID: 37171384 DOI: 10.1080/00015385.2023.2209441]
- Expert Committee of Rational Drug Use of the National Health and Family Planning Commission, Chinese Pharmacists Association. 6 Guidelines for rational drug use of coronary heart disease (2nd edition). Zhonghuo Yixue Qianyan 2018 [DOI: 10.12037/YXQY.2018.06-01]
- He XQ, Liu ML. Prevention and Control Strategy of Coronary Heart Disease in China. Chinese General Practice 2015; 239-240 [DOI: 7 10.3969/j.issn.1007-9572.2015.02.029]
- Scandalis L, Kitzman DW, Nicklas BJ, Lyles M, Brubaker P, Nelson MB, Gordon M, Stone J, Bergstrom J, Neufer PD, Gnaiger E, Molina 8 AJA. Skeletal Muscle Mitochondrial Respiration and Exercise Intolerance in Patients With Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. JAMA Cardiol 2023; 8: 575-584 [PMID: 37163294 DOI: 10.1001/jamacardio.2023.0957]
- Myerburg RJ, Interian A Jr, Mitrani R, Kessler KM, Castellanos A. Frequency of sudden cardiac death and profiles of risk. Am J Cardiol 9 1997; 80: 10F-19F [DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9149(97)00477-3]
- Zeppenfeld K, Tfelt-Hansen J, de Riva M, Winkel BG, Behr ER, Blom NA, Charron P, Corrado D, Dagres N, de Chillou C, Eckardt L, Friede 10 T, Haugaa KH, Hocini M, Lambiase PD, Marijon E, Merino JL, Peichl P, Priori SG, Reichlin T, Schulz-Menger J, Sticherling C, Tzeis S, Verstrael A, Volterrani M; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2022 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. Eur Heart J 2022; 43: 3997-4126 [PMID: 36017572 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac262]
- Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, Capodanno D, Barbato E, Funck-Brentano C, Prescott E, Storey RF, Deaton C, Cuisset T, Agewall S, Dickstein 11 K, Edvardsen T, Escaned J, Gersh BJ, Svitil P, Gilard M, Hasdai D, Hatala R, Mahfoud F, Masip J, Muneretto C, Valgimigli M, Achenbach S, Bax JJ; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 407-477 [PMID: 31504439 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz425]
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Colvin MM, Drazner MH, Filippatos GS, Fonarow GC, Givertz MM, Hollenberg 12 SM, Lindenfeld J, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, Peterson PN, Stevenson LW, Westlake C. 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA Focused Update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 776-803 [PMID: 28461007 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.04.025]
- Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, Bryant WJ, Callans DJ, Curtis AB, Deal BJ, Dickfeld T, Field ME, Fonarow GC, Gillis AM, 13 Granger CB, Hammill SC, Hlatky MA, Joglar JA, Kay GN, Matlock DD, Myerburg RJ, Page RL. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guideline for Management of Patients With Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018; 72: e91-e220 [PMID: 29097296 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.10.054]
- 14 Liu P, Tan XY, Zhang HQ, Su KL, Shang EX, Xiao QL, Guo S, Duan JA. Optimal compatibility proportional screening of Trichosanthis Pericarpium - Trichosanthis Radix and its anti - Inflammatory components effect on experimental zebrafish and coughing mice. J Ethnopharmacol 2023; 319: 117096 [PMID: 37634750 DOI: 10.1016/j.jep.2023.117096]
- Han G. Clinical observation of Gualoupi injection on hypertension. hin J Integr Med Cardio/Cerebrovasc Dis 2008; 6: 80-81 15
- 16 Yang J, Li W, Ding J, Dong Y, Xie X, Zhao F, Pan J, Qu H. A multivariate curve resolution-alternating least squares (MCR-ALS) technology assisted (1) H-NMR methodology for multi-component quantitation of Trichosanthis Pericarpium injection. Phytochem Anal 2023; 34: 40-47 [PMID: 36278832 DOI: 10.1002/pca.3177]
- Chu D, Zhang Z. Trichosanthis Pericarpium Aqueous Extract Protects H9c2 Cardiomyocytes from Hypoxia/Reoxygenation Injury by 17 Regulating PI3K/Akt/NO Pathway. Molecules 2018; 23 [PMID: 30241309 DOI: 10.3390/molecules23102409]
- 18 Zhao QT, Huang Ch, Ju S. Study on the mechanism of acute myocardial infarction. Zhong Cheng Yao 2014; 1745-1747
- Choe JC, Oh JH, Lee HC, Lee JW, Park TS, Park JH, Kim E, Kim MS, Ahn J, Park JS, Lee HW, Choi JH, Cha KS. The effect of nicorandil on 19 cardiac function and clinical outcomes in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomised trial. Acta Cardiol 2023; 78: 880-888 [PMID: 36942830 DOI: 10.1080/00015385.2022.2129592]
- Wang P, Zhao QT, Gao ZH, Huang ZH, Zhang YQ. Protective Effect and Underlying Mechanism of Trichosanthes Pericarpium Injection on 20 Acute Myocardial Infarction Rat Model. J Liaoning Zhongyi Zhazhi 2014; 41: 39-40, after 2
- 21 Ilyas M, Noor M, Khan HS, Haroon S, Farhat K, Ali S. Cardio protective effect of nicorandil in reperfusion injury among patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Pak J Med Sci 2023; 39: 177-181 [PMID: 36694786 DOI: 10.12669/pjms.39.1.6034]



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 December 26; 15(12): 642-648

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.642

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

CASE REPORT

Pulmonary and tricuspid regurgitation after Tetralogy of Fallot repair: A case report

Jing-Yi Cao, Xiao-Ping Ning, Guang-Wei Zhou, Bai-Ling Li, Fan Qiao, Lin Han, Zhi-Yun Xu, Fang-Lin Lu

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Lakusic N, Croatia; Sef D, United Kingdom

Received: August 1, 2023 Peer-review started: August 1, 2023 First decision: October 24, 2023 Revised: November 13, 2023 Accepted: December 11, 2023 Article in press: December 11, 2023 Published online: December 26, 2023



Jing-Yi Cao, Xiao-Ping Ning, Guang-Wei Zhou, Bai-Ling Li, Fan Qiao, Lin Han, Zhi-Yun Xu, Fang-Lin Lu, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Changhai Hospital, Shanghai 200433, China

Fang-Lin Lu, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Shanghai General Hospital, Shanghai 200080, China

Corresponding author: Fang-Lin Lu, MD, PhD, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Changhai Hospital, No. 168 Changhai Road, Shanghai 200433, China. drlufanglin@yeah.net

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Tetralogy of Fallot (TOF) is one of the most common congenital heart defects, and surgery is the primary treatment. There are no precise guidelines on the treatment protocol for tricuspid regurgitation (TR) as a common complication of TOF repair. The timing for treatment in patients presenting with valve regurgitation after TOF repair is often difficult to determine. Here, we report the first case of sequential treatment of pulmonary and TR using interventional therapy.

CASE SUMMARY

We present the case of a 52-year-old female patient, who had a history of TOF repair at a young age. A few years later, the patient presented with pulmonary and tricuspid regurgitation. The symptoms persisted and TR worsened following percutaneous pulmonary valve implantation. Preoperative testing revealed that the patient's disease had advanced to an intermediate to advanced stage and that her general health was precarious. Because open-heart surgery was not an option for the patient, transcatheter tricuspid valve replacement was suggested. This procedure was successful, and the patient recovered fully without any adverse effects. This case report may serve as a useful resource for planning future treatments.

CONCLUSION

Treatment of both valves should be considered in patients with tricuspid and pulmonary regurgitations following TOF repair. The interventional strategy could be an alternative for patients with poor general health.

Key Words: Tetralogy of Fallot repair; Pulmonary regurgitation; Tricuspid regurgitation; Interventional treatment; Sequential treatment; Case report

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Tetralogy of Fallot (TOF) is a common congenital heart disease. Complications following TOF repair, including pulmonary regurgitation, tricuspid regurgitation (TR), and cardiac arrhythmia, can have a negative impact on the prognosis. In this case, the patient had been treated with percutaneous pulmonary valve implantation after TOF repair, but developed TR progression and was treated with transcatheter tricuspid valve replacement. No standardized treatment guidelines for similar patients exist, and the timing and modalities of treatment remain controversial. Therefore, whether patients who develop both types of valve regurgitation after TOF repair should be treated simultaneously or sequentially is important. A treatment plan should be developed based on the patient's overall condition, with interventional techniques being the optimal option for patients with poor baseline conditions.

Citation: Cao JY, Ning XP, Zhou GW, Li BL, Qiao F, Han L, Xu ZY, Lu FL. Pulmonary and tricuspid regurgitation after Tetralogy of Fallot repair: A case report. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(12): 642-648 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i12/642.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.642

INTRODUCTION

Tetralogy of Fallot (TOF) is one of the most common cyanotic congenital heart diseases accounting for 7%-10% of all congenital heart diseases^[1]. Four distinct anatomical features characterized it: Ventricular septal defect, pulmonary outflow tract obstruction, overriding aortic root, and right ventricular hypertrophy. Surgery is the primary treatment with a 30-year survival rate of patients after surgery of approximately 90% [2-4]. However, the outcomes after TOF are strongly affected by postoperative complications, including pulmonary regurgitation (PR), tricuspid regurgitation (TR), heart failure, and arrhythmias, which are closely linked to death[5,6]. These patients often undergo multiple surgeries, and percutaneous intervention is an attractive option because the procedure can be complicated by multiple sternotomies [7,8]. Challa et al[9] described a case of successful percutaneous insertion of a transcatheter 29 mm Edwards Sapien XT valve into the tricuspid valve in a patient who underwent TOF repair[9]. Seckeler et al[10] reported the case of a high-risk patient with complex adult congenital heart disease who underwent successful percutaneous tricuspid valve-in-ring placement with a SAPIEN 3 valve. Roberts et al[11] described 15 patients with congenital heart disease who had successful percutaneous tricuspid valve replacement with Melody valves, one of whom had TOF. Although numerous publications have described the percutaneous insertion of bioprosthetic tricuspid valves in patients with congenital heart disease, this is the first case described involving a LuX-Valve used in a patient after TOF repair and percutaneous pulmonary valve implantation (PPVI).

CASE PRESENTATION

Chief complaints

A 52-year-old female patient was admitted because of poor cardiac function and massive pleural and abdominal effusions.

History of present illness

Two years prior, she underwent PPVI with a Venus *P* valve device[12] at another hospital because of severe PR and TR. The patient improved immediately after treatment but soon developed recurrent right heart failure with severe TR, pulmonary hypertension, and extensive pleural effusion and ascites. In the previous year, she had been hospitalized multiple times for recurrent ascites with early cirrhotic changes on liver ultrasonography. The symptoms keep getting worse, presenting with progressive shortness of breath on exertion, orthopnea, paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnea, and bilateral lower limb swelling. The symptoms were severe enough to make conversation difficult and limited her activities of daily life.

History of past illness

She was admitted with a 20-year TOF repair history and a 2-year history of PPVI. The patient was diagnosed with TOF at an early age and did not undergo corrective surgery until she was an adult because of her poor financial status. Postoperative complications, such as PR, TR, and right heart failure, had progressively worsened in recent years. Cardiac ultrasonography showed ventricular septum repair, despite the patient's inability to recall details of the procedure.

Personal and family history

The patient did not have a family history of congenital heart disease, heart failure, or respiratory illness.



Physical examination

A physical examination revealed reduced bilateral breathing sounds with slight tremor. Dilatation of the jugular vein and pitted edema of the lower extremities. From a cardiac perspective, the New York Heart Association functional class was IV. Comprehensive preoperative evaluation included the 6-minute walking distance of 221 meters; a Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire result of 58 for quality of life assessment; and an The Society of Thoracic Surgeons score of 15.57% for surgical risk evaluation.

Laboratory examinations

Laboratory examinations revealed varying degrees of reduction in peripheral blood cytopenia, liver and kidney function impairment, and a significant increase in B-type natriuretic peptide (517.2 pg/mL) and N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (1490 pg/mL).

Imaging examinations

Transthoracic echocardiography (Figure 1A) indicated torrential TR (121 mL), a dilated right heart, and a preserved left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) of 56%. The tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE) was 11 mm, and the fractional area change (FAC) was 49%. Preoperative computed tomography (CT) (Figure 2A and B) showed an enlarged right heart and a widened inferior vena cava.

FINAL DIAGNOSIS

The final diagnosis was severe TR.

TREATMENT

Owing to massive pleural and abdominal effusions, the patient was admitted to the hospital and underwent closed drainage of the thorax and abdomen. Torasemide (10 mg twice daily) and sacubitril valsartan (25 mg twice daily) were administered. After one month of medication adjustment, the patient underwent transcatheter tricuspid valve intervention and replacement.

After evaluation by a multidisciplinary team, the patient was deemed unsuitable for a second surgery because of her poor physical condition and inability to withstand the trauma of traditional surgery. Based on the patient's anatomy and condition, we decided to use the LuX-Valve developed by the team for transcatheter tricuspid valve replacement (TTVR), and a size of 30-55 was chosen (Figure 2C and D). The Institutional Review Board of Changhai Hospital approved the study protocol and data publication (No. CHEC2018-136).

The procedure was performed in the digital subtraction angiography operating room under transesophageal echocardiography and X-ray fluoroscopy guidance. We chose a minimally invasive right-fifth intercostal thoracotomy to create the delivery channel. Following angiography to determine the TR volume, the delivery system was sent to the right heart until it reached the tricuspid valve. The valve delivery system was gently retracted, and the prosthesis was released to capture the anterior leaflet. The delivery system was adjusted to ensure the graspers were in good contact with the valve leaflet and released into the right atrial disc. Finally, the anchor was secured to the ventricular septum until the valve was adjusted to minimize perivalvular leakage. The delivery system was removed, and angiography showed satisfactory valve function with no regurgitation or paravalvular leakage (Figure 2E and F). The pressure in the right atrium immediately decreased from 41 mmHg to 34 mmHg (Videos 1 and 2).

OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

Transthoracic echocardiography 1 mo after the operation showed that the valve was in position with no obvious regurgitation or paravalvular leakage, with an LVEF of 57% (Figure 1B), and the enlargement of the right atrium was significantly improved (from 327 mL to 253 mL). The TAPSE and FAC became 13mm and 38%, respectively. The mean abdominal circumference reduced from 916.51 mm to 810 mm.

DISCUSSION

PR, a common complication of TOF repair, is a major cause of distant cardiac insufficiency and death[7]. Up to 36% of patients who undergo early TOF repair require pulmonary valve replacement within 30 years of surgery [13]. Compensatory cardiac mechanisms can maintain early homeostasis after TOF repair. However, with disease progression, prolonged exposure to PR and chronic right heart volume overload can lead to right heart dysfunction, progressive right ventricular dilatation, an enlarged tricuspid annulus, and worsening TR[14,15]. The incidence of moderate-to-severe TR after TOF repair is 32% [16]. Owing to delayed treatment for PR, although patients with combined TR improve immediately after pulmonary valve replacement, TR worsens and even leads to arrhythmias and sudden death in more





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.642 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Transthoracic echocardiography images. A: Preoperative transthoracic echocardiography showed an enlarged right heart and massive tricuspid regurgitation; B: Postoperative transthoracic echocardiography 1 mo showed the valve in place with no obvious regurgitation or paravalvular leakage.

than 15% of patients during long-term follow-up[17]. Numerous studies have discussed the type of treatment that is more beneficial for patients who have undergone TOF repair and subsequently develop pulmonary and tricuspid valve lesions. Most authors believe that tricuspid valve repair should be performed concurrently with pulmonary valve replacement in patients with combined moderate-to-severe TR. In the first multicenter study, the Surgical Correction of Tricuspid Insufficiency in Adult Congenital Patients requiring Pulmonary Valve Replacement (SCOTIA-PVR) and concurrent tricuspid valve intervention was shown to be safe and to improve early tricuspid valve function more than pulmonary valve replacement alone in patients with significant TR after TOF[18]. However, some studies concluded that the long-term results of pulmonary valve replacement with simultaneous tricuspid valve repair are controversial. Studies have shown no statistical difference at 6 mo between patients who underwent concurrent tricuspid valve repair and those who underwent pulmonary valve replacement alone^[19]. Our patient underwent PPVI after TOF repair when she developed PR and TR. However, the patient's symptoms did not improve significantly, and right heart failure continued to progress after treatment. The reasons are as follows: (1) Although we could not obtain information about her past treatment, we speculated that the repair resulted in adhesion between the tricuspid valve and the ventricular patch. Therefore, treatment with PR does not make any sense for TR; (2) As described previously, pulmonary valve replacement alone may not improve TR, and treatment is still required. This finding indicates that both PR and TR should be considered after TOF repair; and (3) Infective endocarditis. Several studies have reported endocarditis after valve placement. Patel *et al*[20] described 4 cases of endocarditis after transcatheter pulmonary valve replacement. This may have been caused by the eccentric turbulence and thrombogenesis. Butera et al [21] also reported 2 cases of endocarditis following valve placement. Valve implantation is a risk factor for the development of infective endocarditis, making early monitoring and antiinfective therapy after the interventions indispensable^[22].

Lesions after TOF repair are often amenable to transcatheter intervention. In selected cases, PR can be treated with transcatheter valve insertion[23]. Regarding sequential or concurrent therapy that should be used in managing PR and TR, ongoing monitoring of RV function is an important part of clinical assessment. Meanwhile, multicenter large-scale clinical studies or randomized controlled studies may help clarify whether concurrent tricuspid valve repair can improve patient prognosis.

The LuX-Valve is a novel radial-force-independent TTVR device that we previously designed. Its skirt-shaped, self-expandable, nitinol-valved stent can adapt well to an enlarged annulus and effectively prevent perivalvular leakage. The radial force-independent anchoring concept can minimize damage to the conduction bundle and reduce the occurrence of an atrioventricular block. Pre-clinical and early clinical trials[24-26] have shown that the LuX-Valve is a relatively safe and effective treatment for patients with severe TR *via* right atrial access. Patients who reach an advanced stage of the

Raishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.642 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Preoperative computed tomography and intraoperative digital subtraction angiography images. A and B: Computed tomography of the right ventricle revealed an enlarged right heart and tricuspid annulus; C and D: Simulating the morphology of the prosthetic tricuspid valve after placement; E: The guide wire passed through the tricuspid valve into the right ventricle and angiography indicated massive tricuspid regurgitation; F: Release of the artificial tricuspid valve

disease are in poor general condition and cannot tolerate conventional open heart surgery. Based on our experience, interventional treatment may be a preferable option and should be considered when managing patients with TOF with advanced disease and a challenging clinical status.

CONCLUSION

Attention should be paid to the treatment of patients with postoperative complications of TOF. Multiple clinical studies are meaningful, and the formulation of relevant guidelines is helpful for the diagnosis and treatment of the disease.

FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Jing-Yi Cao and Xiao-Ping Ning.

Author contributions: Cao JY and Ning XP contributed to manuscript writing and editing, and data collection; Zhou GW contributed to image analysis; Li BL contributed to postoperative care and management; Qiao F, Han L, and Lu FL contributed to finishing the surgery; Xu ZY and Lu FL contributed to conceptualization and supervision; and all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82170376.

Informed consent statement: The patient's guardian provided informed written consent for the publication of the study data.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China



Baisbidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

ORCID number: Jing-Yi Cao 0000-0002-1420-7489; Fang-Lin Lu 0000-0002-9056-5042.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- 1 Starr JP. Tetralogy of fallot: yesterday and today. World J Surg 2010; 34: 658-668 [PMID: 20091166 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-009-0296-8]
- 2 Chiu SN, Wang JK, Chen HC, Lin MT, Wu ET, Chen CA, Huang SC, Chang CI, Chen YS, Chiu IS, Chen CL, Wu MH. Long-term survival and unnatural deaths of patients with repaired tetralogy of Fallot in an Asian cohort. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2012; 5: 120-125 [PMID: 22235069 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.111.963603]
- Murphy JG, Gersh BJ, Mair DD, Fuster V, McGoon MD, Ilstrup DM, McGoon DC, Kirklin JW, Danielson GK. Long-term outcome in 3 patients undergoing surgical repair of tetralogy of Fallot. N Engl J Med 1993; 329: 593-599 [PMID: 7688102 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199308263290901]
- Nollert G, Fischlein T, Bouterwek S, Böhmer C, Klinner W, Reichart B. Long-term survival in patients with repair of tetralogy of Fallot: 36-4 year follow-up of 490 survivors of the first year after surgical repair. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997; 30: 1374-1383 [PMID: 9350942 DOI: 10.1016/S0735-1097(97)00318-5]
- Gatzoulis MA, Till JA, Somerville J, Redington AN. Mechanoelectrical interaction in tetralogy of Fallot. QRS prolongation relates to right 5 ventricular size and predicts malignant ventricular arrhythmias and sudden death. Circulation 1995; 92: 231-237 [PMID: 7600655 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.92.2.231
- Ghai A, Silversides C, Harris L, Webb GD, Siu SC, Therrien J. Left ventricular dysfunction is a risk factor for sudden cardiac death in adults 6 late after repair of tetralogy of Fallot. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 40: 1675-1680 [PMID: 12427422 DOI: 10.1016/S0735-1097(02)02344-6]
- Faries CM, Sengupta A, Alexis SL, Tadros RO, Octeau D, Barnes HJ, Tang GHL. Transcatheter Tricuspid and Pulmonary Valve Repair and 7 Replacement. Surg Technol Int 2020; 36: 217-223 [PMID: 32379893]
- Filsoufi F, Anyanwu AC, Salzberg SP, Frankel T, Cohn LH, Adams DH. Long-term outcomes of tricuspid valve replacement in the current 8 era. Ann Thorac Surg 2005; 80: 845-850 [PMID: 16122441 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2004.12.019]
- 9 Challa A, Markham R, Walters D. Percutaneous valve in valve in the tricuspid position in a patient with Tetralogy of Fallot. BMJ Case Rep 2017; 2017 [PMID: 28768675 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2017-221104]
- 10 Seckeler MD, White SC, Jenkins J, Klewer SE. Treatment of tricuspid regurgitation and para-ring leak in tetralogy of Fallot with oversized SAPIEN 3 valve-in-ring implantation. J Card Surg 2018; 33: 541-544 [PMID: 29998581 DOI: 10.1111/jocs.13770]
- 11 Roberts PA, Boudjemline Y, Cheatham JP, Eicken A, Ewert P, McElhinney DB, Hill SL, Berger F, Khan D, Schranz D, Hess J, Ezekowitz MD, Celermajer D, Zahn E. Percutaneous tricuspid valve replacement in congenital and acquired heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58: 117-122 [PMID: 21718905 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.01.044]
- Cao QL, Kenny D, Zhou D, Pan W, Guan L, Ge J, Hijazi ZM. Early clinical experience with a novel self-expanding percutaneous stent-valve 12 in the native right ventricular outflow tract. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 84: 1131-1137 [PMID: 24824357 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.25544]
- Frigiola A, Hughes M, Turner M, Taylor A, Marek J, Giardini A, Hsia TY, Bull K. Physiological and phenotypic characteristics of late 13 survivors of tetralogy of fallot repair who are free from pulmonary valve replacement. Circulation 2013; 128: 1861-1868 [PMID: 24065608 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001600]
- Hickey EJ, Veldtman G, Bradley TJ, Gengsakul A, Webb G, Williams WG, Manlhiot C, McCrindle BW. Functional health status in adult 14 survivors of operative repair of tetralogy of fallot. Am J Cardiol 2012; 109: 873-880 [PMID: 22244382 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.10.051]
- Oechslin EN, Harrison DA, Harris L, Downar E, Webb GD, Siu SS, Williams WG. Reoperation in adults with repair of tetralogy of fallot: 15 indications and outcomes. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1999; 118: 245-251 [PMID: 10424997 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-5223(99)70214-X]
- Mahle WT, Parks WJ, Fyfe DA, Sallee D. Tricuspid regurgitation in patients with repaired Tetralogy of Fallot and its relation to right 16 ventricular dilatation. Am J Cardiol 2003; 92: 643-645 [PMID: 12943899 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9149(03)00746-X]
- Kobayashi J, Kawashima Y, Matsuda H, Nakano S, Miura T, Tokuan Y, Arisawa J. Prevalence and risk factors of tricuspid regurgitation after 17 correction of tetralogy of Fallot. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1991; 102: 611-616 [PMID: 1921437 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-5223(20)31435-5]
- Deshaies C, Trottier H, Khairy P, Al-Aklabi M, Beauchesne L, Bernier PL, Dhillon S, Gandhi SK, Haller C, Hancock Friesen CL, Hickey EJ, 18 Horne D, Jacques F, Kiess MC, Perron J, Rodriguez M, Poirier NC; Canadian Congenital Cardiac Collaborative (4C). Tricuspid Intervention Following Pulmonary Valve Replacement in Adults With Congenital Heart Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 75: 1033-1043 [PMID: 32138963] DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.12.0531
- Cramer JW, Ginde S, Hill GD, Cohen SB, Bartz PJ, Tweddell JS, Earing MG. Tricuspid repair at pulmonary valve replacement does not alter 19 outcomes in tetralogy of Fallot. Ann Thorac Surg 2015; 99: 899-904 [PMID: 25596869 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.09.086]
- Patel M, Iserin L, Bonnet D, Boudjemline Y. Atypical malignant late infective endocarditis of Melody valve. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012; 20 143: e32-e35 [PMID: 22284627 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.01.006]
- Butera G, Milanesi O, Spadoni I, Piazza L, Donti A, Ricci C, Agnoletti G, Pangrazi A, Chessa M, Carminati M. Melody transcatheter 21 pulmonary valve implantation. Results from the registry of the Italian Society of Pediatric Cardiology. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2013; 81: 310-316 [PMID: 22718682 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.24518]
- Verzelloni Sef A, Jaggar SI, Trkulja V, Alonso-Gonzalez R, Sef D, Turina MI. Factors associated with long-term outcomes in adult congenital 22 heart disease patients with infective endocarditis: a 16-year tertiary single-centre experience. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2023; 63 [PMID: 36946284 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezad105]
- Villafañe J, Feinstein JA, Jenkins KJ, Vincent RN, Walsh EP, Dubin AM, Geva T, Towbin JA, Cohen MS, Fraser C, Dearani J, Rosenthal D, 23 Kaufman B, Graham TP Jr; Adult Congenital and Pediatric Cardiology Section, American College of Cardiology. Hot topics in tetralogy of Fallot. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 62: 2155-2166 [PMID: 24076489 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.07.100]
- 24 Lu F, Qiao F, Lv Y, An Z, Liu X, Cao P, Song Z, Xu Z. A radial force-independent bioprosthesis for transcatheter tricuspid valve implantation



in a preclinical model. Int J Cardiol 2020; 319: 120-126 [PMID: 32634491 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2020.06.070]

- Lu FL, Ma Y, An Z, Cai CL, Li BL, Song ZG, Han L, Wang J, Qiao F, Xu ZY. First-in-Man Experience of Transcatheter Tricuspid Valve 25 Replacement With LuX-Valve in High-Risk Tricuspid Regurgitation Patients. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 13: 1614-1616 [PMID: 32646711 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2020.03.026]
- Lu FL, An Z, Ma Y, Song ZG, Cai CL, Li BL, Zhou GW, Han L, Wang J, Bai YF, Liu XH, Wang JF, Meng X, Zhang HB, Yang J, Dong NG, 26 Hu SS, Pan XB, Cheung A, Qiao F, Xu ZY. Transcatheter tricuspid valve replacement in patients with severe tricuspid regurgitation. Heart 2021; 107: 1664-1670 [PMID: 33419880 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2020-318199]



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 December 26; 15(12): 649-654

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.649

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

CASE REPORT

R-I subtype single right coronary artery with congenital absence of left coronary system: A case report

Ya-Ping Zhou, Lin-Li Wang, Yuan-Gang Qiu, Shu-Wei Huang

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: El-Serafy AS, Egypt; Sef D, United Kingdom; Batta A, India

Received: August 17, 2023 Peer-review started: August 17, 2023 First decision: September 29, 2023 Revised: October 13, 2023 Accepted: November 13, 2023 Article in press: November 13, 2023 Published online: December 26, 2023



Ya-Ping Zhou, Yuan-Gang Qiu, Shu-Wei Huang, Department of Cardiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University (Zhejiang Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine), Hangzhou 310005, Zhejiang, China

Lin-Li Wang, Department of Preventive Medicine, Children's Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, National Clinical Research Center for Child Health, Hangzhou 310052, China

Corresponding author: Shu-Wei Huang, MMed, Doctor, Professor, Department of Cardiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University (Zhejiang Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine), No. 54 Youdian Road, Hangzhou 310005, Zhejiang Province, China. hsw1104@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Isolated single coronary artery is a rare congenital anomaly. R-I subtype single coronary artery is even rarer. In this subtype, a very large right coronary artery extends in the coronary sulcus to the anterior base of the heart where it produces the left anterior descending coronary artery. Currently, only a few case reports are available in the literature for this anomaly.

CASE SUMMARY

Here, we report the case of a 62-year-old woman who presented to the cardiology clinic with decreased exercise tolerance and poor blood pressure control. The patient underwent coronary angiography (CAG) and emission computed tomography (ECT). CAG images revealed a single gigantic right coronary artery (R-I type) arising from the right coronary sinus with branches supplying the left coronary territory. The ECT results confirmed myocardial ischemia at the location of the absent left coronary artery. The ECT findings confirmed that ischemia was consistent with the vascular loss location in CAG images. In such anomalies, there is a compensatory widening of the coronary artery lumen. Medical treatment was administered, and the patient was discharged.

CONCLUSION

Isolated single coronary arteries are associated with ischemia and potentially fatal acute coronary events. Hence, controlling risk factors is critical.

Key Words: Single coronary artery; R-I type; Congenital anomaly; Emission computed



tomography; Coronary angiography; Case report

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: We present the rare case of an elderly woman with an isolated single right coronary artery (R-I subtype) detected by coronary angiography and myocardial ischemia confirmed by emission computed tomography. Since such an anomaly may be fatal in these patients, providing appropriate medical treatment promptly has a positive effect on their prognosis.

Citation: Zhou YP, Wang LL, Qiu YG, Huang SW. R-I subtype single right coronary artery with congenital absence of left coronary system: A case report. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(12): 649-654 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i12/649.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.649

INTRODUCTION

An isolated single coronary artery is a rare congenital anomaly in which only one coronary artery arises from the aortic trunk and supplies the entire heart via a single coronary ostium[1]. Such an anomaly occurs in approximately 0.024%-0.044% of the population[2]. The R-I subtype single coronary artery is even rarer, with a reported incidence of 0.0008%[3]. In the R-I variant, a single large right coronary artery (RCA) extends to the anterior base of the heart and produces the left anterior descending coronary artery, which supplies blood flow to the left side of the heart.

According to our literature review, a single RCA is exceedingly rare, and only a few cases have been reported. Saglam et al[4] described a 72- year- old woman with a single coronary artery anomaly who was admitted with atypical chest pain and may be a new subtype of the Lipton R-I subtype. Siddiqui et al[5] presented a single RCA arising from the right sinus of Valsalva in the absence of an equivalent left coronary artery system branches and associated mitral valve prolapse. Yoldaş et al[6] reported an extremely rare case of a 14-mo-old girl who was diagnosed with a single RCA, a coronary artery fistula communicating with the right ventricle, and congenital absence of a left coronary artery. In these reports, coronary angiography (CAG) and multidetector computed tomography CAG findings were shared. However, we did not find any case reports that further verified the presence of myocardial ischemia. Herein, we presented the case of a 62-year-old woman with an R-I subtype single coronary artery and verified that myocardial ischemia was consistent with the area of vascular loss observed in emission computed tomography (ECT) images.

CASE PRESENTATION

Chief complaints

A 62-year-old female with many cardiovascular risk factors such as diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension presented to our cardiology clinic with decreased exercise tolerance and poor blood pressure (BP) control.

History of present illness

The patient reported that the symptoms began 2 wk before presentation.

History of past illness

In addition to the cardiovascular risk factors mentioned above, the patient's history of past illnesses was not significantly different.

Personal and family history

The patient denied having a history of decreased tolerance to exercise. However, within her family, her father has a history of hypertension.

Physical examination

On physical examination, the vital signs were as follows: body temperature of 37.3 °C; heart rate of 92 beats per min; BP of 151/86 mmHg; and body mass index of 23.4 kg/m². Dyspnea, heart murmurs, and other signs of heart failure were not observed.

Laboratory examinations

Cardiac troponin I levels were negative. The lipid profile revealed low-density lipoprotein, high-density lipoprotein, and total cholesterol levels of 3.16, 1.19, and 4.96 mmol/L, respectively. Fasting blood glucose was 9.49 mmol/L, and 2 h after a meal the blood glucose level rose to 22.54 mmol/L. Glycosylated hemoglobin A1c was 7.51%. Electrocardiography





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.649 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Electrocardiogram of the patient. A normal sinus rhythm with ST-T wave changes in leads I, II, III, aVF, and V4-V6.

showed a normal sinus rhythm with ST-T wave slight depressions in leads I, II, III, aVF, and V4-V6 (Figure 1). The echocardiography of the heart revealed no regional wall motion abnormalities and good left ventricular systolic function.

Imaging examinations

During CAG, selective cannulation of the left coronary artery (LCA) was not possible, and nonselective injection revealed the absence of a coronary artery arising from the left coronary sinus. Aortography showed the absence of the LCA, with no other vessels arising from the left or non-coronary cusps. We could not locate the left anterior descending artery or left circumflex artery (Figure 2, Videos 1, 2, 3 and 4). After selective injection into the right coronary sinus, a single ostium was visualized (Figure 2B). The RCA is a large vessel without significant atheromatous occlusive stenosis. The RCA passed within the right coronary sulcus before continuing through the crux of the heart to the left part of the coronary sulcus and terminating anteriorly in a small vessel supplying the territory of the left anterior descending coronary artery (Figure 2C). The ECT results showed that the inferior wall basal segment, inferior lateral wall basal segment, inferior septal wall middle segment, and basal segment of the left ventricle had a small-to-medium range of moderate myocardial blood flow perfusion reduction, considering the presence of myocardial ischemia (Figure 3A). Overall, left ventricular systolic function was normal without abnormal wall motion. However, the resting left ventricular ejection fraction value of the left ventricle was normal, and the load left ventricular ejection fraction value did not increase, indicating a decrease in the left ventricular systolic reserve function (Figure 3B).

FINAL DIAGNOSIS

Combined with the patient's previous medical history and the CAG and ECT imaging findings, the final diagnosis was a single RCA of the R-I type without significant coronary atherosclerosis. Myocardial ischemia was consistent with the area of vascular loss.

TREATMENT

The patient was managed with a β blocker, angiotensin receptor enkephalin enzyme inhibitor, nitrate for hypertension, statin for hyperlipidemia, biguanides, α -glucosidase inhibitor, and sulfonylurea for diabetes. Since the patient had high





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.649 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Results of coronary angiography. A: Coronary angiography in multiple projections showed no coronary artery arising from the left coronary sinus; B: A single and large right coronary artery originated from the right sinus continues in the coronary sulcus; C: Right coronary artery extended to the anterior base of the heart, where it gave rise to the left anterior descending coronary artery; D: No left coronary artery was found on nonselective injection of the aortic root.

risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia with a single RCA, we administered aspirin (100 mg once daily) for the primary prevention of coronary heart disease and trimetazidine (35 mg twice daily) to improve myocardial hypoxia. The patient was discharged on postoperative day 3, with blood glucose and blood pressure controlled smoothly, and the symptoms disappeared.

OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

At the last follow-up (6 mo postoperatively), the patient felt better with no recurrence of symptoms.

DISCUSSION

The presence of a right single coronary artery with congenital absence of the LCA (type R-I, the anomaly in the present case) is the least common type of single coronary artery, with a reported incidence of 0.0008%[3]. R-I subtype single RCA with congenital absence of left coronary system has been reported only a few times. The first reported case of a single RCA was described in 1867[7]. In a 31-year angiographic study by Villa *et al*[8], which examined the incidence of congenital coronary artery abnormalities in adults, only one R-I subtype single coronary artery was found in 13500 coronary angiography cases. Even though Desmet *et al*[9] examined 50000 coronary angiographies and Lipton *et al*[10] examined 4382 coronary angiographies, neither of them reported any cases of R-I type single coronary artery.

R-I subtype single coronary artery typically presents with a benign clinical course of disease, and the diagnosis is usually an incidental finding on noninvasive imaging. Invasive CAG can be used to diagnose symptomatic patients. Upadhyaya *et al*[11] presented the case of a young male patient with non-ST-elevated myocardial infarction. The patient was found to have a single coronary artery by employing invasive CAG. The few cases of R-I subtype detected by arteriography and autopsy have a co-compensatory mechanism of an enlarged aortic opening of regional citrate anticoagulation and an enormous dilation of the blood vessel itself with a sharp increase in lumen diameter, which can allow for perfusion of the entire heart through a single blood vessel[12,13].



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.649 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Results of emission computed tomography. A: The inferior wall basal segment, inferior lateral wall basal segment, inferior septal wall middle segment, and basal segment of the left ventricle had a small-to-medium range of moderate myocardial blood flow perfusion reduction; B: Normal left ventricular systolic function without abnormal wall motion with a left ventricular ejection fraction of 66%. The load left ventricular ejection fraction was 61%.

In our case, because the patient had decreased exercise tolerance and many risk factors, she underwent CAG directly, which confirmed a single, gigantic, and hyperdominant RCA arising from the right coronary sinus with branches supplying the left coronary territory. However, this discovery was accidental. With the development of minimally invasive cardiac surgery, the number of clinically significant incidental findings detected using computed tomography has increased to 18.7% [14]. The patient was discharged on postoperative day 3 without having to undergo diagnostic computed tomography angiography. This is a limitation of the present study.

The main purpose of ECT is to observe myocardial blood perfusion and metabolism, and it is usually employed to diagnose patients with myocardial ischemia and coronary heart disease. To further confirm the presence of myocardial ischemia and the relationship between ischemia and the coronary artery-deficient area of the heart, the patient underwent ECT. The results of ECT showed that the RCA was insufficient for perfusion of the entire heart, whether at rest or after an increased cardiac load. We observed ischemia in the myocardium, where blood vessels were absent. In patients with a single coronary artery, the effect of coronary artery stenosis or occlusion may be catastrophic. Therefore, active preventive treatment is important for improving patient prognosis.

CONCLUSION

CAG revealed a congenital vascular anomaly. The presence of myocardial ischemia was confirmed by ECT. Through a literature search, we found that this is the first case report of a patient with a single RCA R-I subtype who underwent ECT to verify myocardial ischemia. Although we discovered this abnormality serendipitously in our clinical practice, acute coronary events can be fatal in these patients. Therefore, once this variant is identified, active treatment and control of risk factors are necessary to improve patient prognosis.

FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Ya-Ping Zhou and Lin-Li Wang.

Author contributions: Zhou YP and Wang LL contributed to manuscript writing and editing and data collection; Qiu YG and Huang SW contributed to conceptualization and supervision; All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Ya-Ping Zhou 0009-0005-8770-9550; Shu-Wei Huang hsw1104163.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- Smith JC. Review of single coronary artery with report of 2 cases. Circulation 1950; 1: 1168-1175 [PMID: 15411739 DOI: 1 10.1161/01.cir.1.5.1168
- Passman RS, Ferrari VA, Holland GA, Herling IM, Kolansky DM. Single coronary artery: an angiographic and MRI case report. Cathet 2 Cardiovasc Diagn 1997; 40: 177-178 [PMID: 9047062 DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0304(199702)40:2<177:]
- Yamanaka O, Hobbs RE. Coronary artery anomalies in 126,595 patients undergoing coronary arteriography. Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn 1990; 3 21: 28-40 [PMID: 2208265 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.1810210110]
- 4 Saglam M, Dogan D, Sahin S, Turkkan C, Kula O. Single right coronary artery with absence of the left main coronary artery, left anterior descending artery, and circumflex artery. Echocardiography 2017; 34: 1401-1403 [PMID: 28681426 DOI: 10.1111/echo.13576]
- Siddiqui SM, Kesava Rao RC, Kaza S, Padma Kumar EA. Computed tomography coronary angiography diagnosis of single right coronary 5 artery with congenital absence of left coronary artery system equivalents. Indian J Radiol Imaging 2016; 26: 198-200 [PMID: 27413265 DOI: 10.4103/0971-3026.184406]
- 6 Yoldaş T, Beyazal M, Örün UA. Single right coronary artery with right ventricular fistula and congenital absence of left coronary artery: an extremely rare combination. Cardiol Young 2019; 29: 1402-1403 [PMID: 31486350 DOI: 10.1017/S1047951119002105]
- 7 Kettner M, Mall G, Bratzke H. Single coronary artery: a fatal R-I type. Forensic Sci Med Pathol 2013; 9: 214-217 [PMID: 23229771 DOI: 10.1007/s12024-012-9389-z
- 8 Barriales Villa R, Morís C, López Muñiz A, Hernández LC, San Román L, Barriales Alvarez V, Testa A, de la Hera J, Sanmartín JC, Cortina A. Adult congenital anomalies of the coronary arteries described over 31 years of angiographic studies in the Asturias Principality: main angiographic and clinical characteristics. Rev Esp Cardiol 2001; 54: 269-281 [PMID: 11262367 DOI: 10.1016/s0300-8932(01)76308-7]
- Desmet W, Vanhaecke J, Vrolix M, Van de Werf F, Piessens J, Willems J, de Geest H. Isolated single coronary artery: a review of 50,000 9 consecutive coronary angiographies. Eur Heart J 1992; 13: 1637-1640 [PMID: 1289093 DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.eurheartj.a060117]
- 10 Lipton MJ, Barry WH, Obrez I, Silverman JF, Wexler L. Isolated single coronary artery: diagnosis, angiographic classification, and clinical significance. Radiology 1979; 130: 39-47 [PMID: 758666 DOI: 10.1148/130.1.39]
- Upadhyaya SGN, Mughal LH, Connolly D, Lip G. Single right coronary artery with congenital absence of left coronary system. BMJ Case 11 *Rep* 2018; **11** [PMID: 30567277 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2018-228296]
- Hartmann M, Verhorst PM, von Birgelen C. Isolated "superdominant" single coronary artery: a particularly rare coronary anomaly. Heart 12 2007; 93: 687 [PMID: 17502650 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2006.097618]
- Koksal A, Canyigit M, Akgoz A, Kaya D, Dincer H, Akhan O. Extremely rare R-I subtype coronary artery anomaly and accompanying 13 incomplete myocardial bridging on the left anterior descending artery in a symptomatic patient: multidetector computed tomography and coronary angiography findings. Acta Radiol 2009; 50: 760-764 [PMID: 19626472 DOI: 10.1080/02841850902984738]
- Sef D, Birdi I. Clinically significant incidental findings during preoperative computed tomography of patients undergoing cardiac surgery. 14 Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2020; 31: 629-631 [PMID: 32865197 DOI: 10.1093/icvts/ivaa160]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

